WILL THEY STAY? EXPLORING MISSION ATTACHMENT AND ORGANIZATIONAL COMMITMENT AMONG EMPLOYEES IN A NONPROFIT ORGANIZATION

by

Laurene E. Collins

APRIL BOYINGTON WALL, PhD, Faculty Mentor and Chair

MAURICE AHYEE, PhD, Committee Member

ROBERT BIGELOW, JD, Committee Member

William A. Reed, PhD, Acting Dean, School of Business and Technology

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Capella University

September 2011



UMI Number: 3481002

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent on the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3481002

Copyright 2011 by ProQuest LLC.

All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346



© Laurene Collins, 2011



Abstract

This qualitative phenomenological study was conducted to explore how employees described their commitment to the organization and attachment to the mission in relation to their intent to stay. Hiring for mission has been loosely used in some organizations to attract prospective candidates who believe in the organization's values and mission and want to remain there to achieve those goals. At the same time, current literature emphasizes that employees' level of commitment determines their expectations and their willingness to remain with the organization. This study explored organizational commitment and mission attachment in a qualitative form through formulating openended, semi-structured questions capturing participants' level of affective, continuance, and normative commitment adapted from The Organizational Commitment Scale by Allen and Meyers (1990) and open-ended, semi-structured questions adapted from Mission Attachment statements by Brown and Yoshioka (2003) which determined their awareness and understanding of the mission. Participants from a Southeast U.S.-based nonprofit company answered ten interview questions which addressed their personal experiences and feelings about their understanding and attachment to the mission and their commitment to the organization in relation to their intent to stay. Through various emerging themes, participants expressed a knowledge and attachment of the mission through their personal understanding of the mission and through the work they performed. The majority of participants were attached to the mission more so than the organization itself. Through the use of advocating for policy changes and other legislative changes, employees understood how this component supported the mission in saving and improving people lives. The emotional attachment to the mission came



through they way they knew the work they performed touched the lives of their family, friends, co-workers, and others. Their intent to remain connected to the mission goals remained strong even through volunteer services if they left the organization. Their commitment to the organization varied based upon areas relating to financial and cost impact, cultural changes, and work related factors. Recommendations for future studies include using a larger diverse sampling of nonprofit employees and extending this study to for-profit companies to explore other implications that can possibly affect employee behavior and job retention.

Dedication

I must first dedicate this accomplishment to my Lord and Savior Jesus Christ because without His Grace and Mercy, I would not have made it this far. He is the one from whom my Blessings flow.

I also dedicate this accomplishment to my children, Perry Collins, Victoria

Collins, and my grandson Demarri Johnson. They never allowed me to think that I could

not finish this dissertation. My daughter nursed me through my illnesses, hugged me

when I had bad days, and prayed for me when I thought I could no longer pray for

myself. Although my son was far away, his comforting encouragement through

telephone calls let me know that I could do this. My grandson whose smiles and hugs

were so infectious gave me the inspiration to know that I needed to leave this as a legacy

for him.

To my family, I appreciated all the love and support that you gave me. I want to especially send love to my baby sister for her extra comfort, love, and prayers.

To my parents who are now with the Lord, I would like to dedicate this labor of love in honor of you. Your lingering love and memories reminded me of your words, "Anything is possible through Christ who strengthens us". I know your presence have been with me along this journey. I miss you, and I love you!



Acknowledgments

There are so many people to thank who have been a part of my journey. I want them to know that their prayers and kind words were so comforting when I thought I would never make it. I also want to thank those who were involved in allowing me to perform my study at their organization. However, I would like to thank the ones who have provided the most guidance and insights through this trial.

First, I would like to acknowledge my committee, Dr. April Boyington Wall, Dr. Maurice Ahyee, and Robert Bigelow J.D. This group provided me with support, advice, and guidance. I would especially like to acknowledge and thank Dr. Wall for her support and guidance through this journey. Dr. Wall helped me not only through the academic part of this journey but also the spiritual part that one endures when taking on a project such as this dissertation. She pushed me to a level which helped to strengthen and fine tune my own capabilities. I thank you! Also, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Laura Hutt. She stayed with me every step of the way.

Next, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Outten who listened to my concerns and gave me advice that allowed me the courage and stamina to keep going when I thought I was at the end of my rope. You definitely helped me grow through this experience.

Last put definitely not least, I have to acknowledge my good friend Dr. Calvin Thompson. He was my rock. Dr. Thompson was there when I was ill and could not think about continuing to write. He helped me understand that finishing this dissertation is not a race. It does not matter how fast you finish, but that you finish. He constantly lifted me up in prayer for my health and my strength to continue my journey. Thank you!



Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	iv		
List of Tables	viii		
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION			
Introduction to the Problem	1		
Background of the Study	4		
Statement of the Problem	6		
Purpose of the Study	7		
Rationale	9		
Significance of the Study	10		
Theoretical Framework	12		
Definition of Terms	14		
Assumptions and Limitations	16		
Organization of the Remainder of the Study	17		
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW			
Introduction	18		
Nonprofit Organization	18		
Nonprofit Employee	20		
Value of Retention	24		
Mission Attachment	27		
Mission Weakness	30		
Shared Vision	32		
Organizational Commitment	34		



	Three Component Models of Organizational Commitment	35
	Psychological Contract	37
	Affective Commitment	39
	Continuance Commitment	42
	Normative Commitment	44
	Summary	47
СНАРТ	TER 3. METHODOLOGY	
	Introduction	49
	Research Design	49
	Sample/Population	51
	Data Collection	53
	Data Analysis	55
	Validity and Reliability	56
	Epoché	58
	Ethical Considerations	59
	Summary	59
СНАРТ	TER 4. RESULTS	
	Introduction	61
	Descriptive Data	62
	Data Analysis Procedures	63
	Findings	66
	Key Overarching Themes	91
	Mission Driven	92



Saving and Improving Lives	94
Advocacy	95
Summary	96
CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION, IMPLICATIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS	
Introduction	98
Summary and Discussion of Findings	98
Limitations	105
Conclusion	106
Future Research and Recommendations	108
REFERENCES	110
APPENDIX A. INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	123
APPENDIX B. ORGANIZATIONAL COMMITMENT SCALES	125
APPENDIX C. MISSION ATTACHMENT STATEMENTS	126
APPENDIX D. SELF REFLECTIVE EPOCHÉ	127



List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic Description of the Research Sample	63
Table 2. Coded Responses for Interview Question One	67
Table 3. Themes for Interview Question One	68
Table 4. Coded Responses for Interview Question Two	69
Table 5. Themes for Interview Question Two	70
Table 6. Coded Responses for Interview Question Three	72
Table 7. Themes for Interview Question Three	73
Table 8. Coded Responses for Interview Question Four	75
Table 9. Themes for Interview Question Four	76
Table 10. Coded Responses for Interview Question Five	77
Table 11. Themes for Interview Question Five	79
Table 12. Coded Responses for Interview Question Six	81
Table 13. Themes for Interview Question Six	82
Table 14. Coded Responses for Interview Question Seven	84
Table 15. Themes for Interview Question Seven	84
Table 16. Coded Responses for Interview Question Eight	86
Table 17. Themes for Interview Question Eight	86
Table 18. Coded Responses for Interview Question Nine	88
Table 19. Themes for Interview Question Nine	89
Table 20. Coded Responses for Interview Question Ten	89
Table 21. Themes for Interview Question Ten	91
Table 22. Overarching Themes	92



CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Introduction to the Problem

Americans live in an age of nonprofit organizations involved in numerous fields, such as human services, education, religion, arts, and philanthropy (Berry, 2005). In the last 25 years, the total number of nonprofits registered with the IRS has increased almost three-fold from 300,000 to around 800,000. Nonprofits have more than surpassed the growth of for-profit firms (Gose, 2005).

One in 10 Americans either works full-time or part-time for approximately 1.1 million nonprofit organizations in the U.S. (Ayers-Williams, 1998). In 2004, nonprofits were responsible for more than six percent of the U.S. gross domestic products and services, and they employed approximately 12.5 million Americans (Moore, 2004). The continued growth of nonprofits shows the attraction that many Americans have for becoming members of, or affiliating themselves with organizations whose mission is to serve social and economic causes that are crucial to underserved populations.

Much nonprofit literature presented over the years has acknowledged the importance and growing needs of nonprofit organizations and their relationship to public awareness (Alexander, 1999; Hammack, 2002; Weisbrod, 1999). The provision of services to others is important to the social and civil life of many Americans. Drucker (2001a) posited, "Everyone is an organ of society and exists for the sake of society" (p. 16). We all need one another to live in a society that plays a humanitarian role in how we live life to its fullest. The tireless efforts of nonprofit organizations attempt to fill this necessary void.



Nonprofits, more than for-profit firms, are the voice within the political system that represents the poor and disadvantaged in society (Berry, 2005). Self-governing nonprofit organizations deliver various services through sometimes under funded or controlled means to support a mission whose business focus is on saving or changing lives (Hammack, 2002). Santora, Seaton and Sarros (1999) contend, "The decrease in funding from traditional revenue streams, coupled with intensely competitive markets, have taken their toll and often paint a gloomy picture for many nonprofit organization" (p. 101).

To capture the spirit and emotional movement of their mission, organizations define and construct a brief document known as a *mission statement*. The mission statement should project a clear declaration of purpose for the organization (Brown & Yoshioka, 2003). A well-designed mission statement reflects the spirit of the organization; however, the mission should be more than a statement or symbol displayed on the walls of an institution. Accordingly, the mission statement can inspire employees and help them focus on the overall strategic direction of the organization.

The foundation of nonprofit organizations is deeply rooted in the strength of their mission and values (Glasrud, 2001). Organizations are able to articulate their overall purpose and role through their mission and the work they do to achieve these goals (Bart & Tabone, 1988). In addition, nonprofit authors concur that nonprofit organizations are different in that their mission is incorporated in the organization's accountability and public trust which sets them apart from other sectors (Jeavons, 1994).

Nonprofit organizations are mission driven, and due to emotional attachment to the mission, people are usually drawn to these organizations (Kim & Less, 2007). Since



the mid-1980s, organizations have used their missions as recruiting tools to attract employees who identify with their purpose and values and commit themselves to achieving the organization's vision of the future (Harrison, 1987). Using the organization's mission as a recruiting tool can increase the probability of retaining valuable employees and decrease the rate of employee turnover.

Any organization, for-profit or nonprofit, needs a quality pool of highly skilled employees. Nonprofit organizations have a significant need to attract highly qualified employees to run a multitude of social programs with limited funding and human resources. A major challenge that faces nonprofits is attracting and retaining employees whose compensation and benefits might not be competitive with those of employees of many for-profit firms (Carlton & Yoshioka, 2003). Usually, the employees with nonprofits need to have a commitment that can be described as beyond one self and focused on the needs of others (Akingbola, 2006; Armstrong, 1992).

Accordingly, the theory of organizational commitment has been conceptualized as a means to understand employees and their ties to an organization. Allen & Meyer (1990) described organizational commitment as a psychological state that attempts to understand employees' relationship with the organization and the choices that affect their decisions to stay or leave. Although other variables can shape one's commitment level, each employee has a "psychological contract" tying them to their individualized expectations from the organization in return for their given talents (Rousseau & Parks, 1993).

Because employees relate to the mission in different ways, the need to understand this attachment on a psychological level aids hiring managers in determining whether a



job applicant has a focus on the mission. In addition, understanding the impact of mission attachment and the various psychological levels of organizational commitment can assist human resources professionals in understanding what is needed to retain their most valuable resource, human capital.

Background of the Study

Nonprofit organizations are created to implement social programs that provide needed benefits to the public (Berry, 2005). In addition, the activities of the nonprofits affect other aspects of American society, including volunteerism (Goulet and Frank, 2002). None of the programs or services can survive without the support of volunteers and paid staff members.

Employees' knowledge, skills, and abilities are needed to support social programs; however, nonprofit organizations face many challenges when attempting to recruit and retain employees who are committed to their mission and values. Individuals' job expectations and their motivations for employment are usually unknown to the hiring organization. Mayer (1978) points out:

Although an applicant comes in for an interview having identified those specific needs and expectations she wants satisfied ... neither the interviewer nor the interviewee discusses the real motivators of the interviewee, nor the true concerns of the organization simply because the present system does not espouse this open dialogue. (p. 262)

A redesign of the recruitment and interviewing process to include a discussion of the mission would allow the organization to determine job applicants' expectations relative to their propensity to support the organization's mission and values.

Competition for qualified talent prevails among companies, industries, organizations, and government bodies. Studies show that a finite number of qualified



individuals exist, and that competition for this limited pool will intensify (Bhattacharya, Sen & Korschum, 2008). Understanding what attracts and keeps employees in the organization can provide the competitive advantage needed for nonprofit organizations to obtain highly qualified individuals. If nonprofit organizations cannot provide innovative methods for recruitment and retention, they will lose talented employees to for-profit organizations or other business sectors (Christoforo & Williams, 2002).

Most employees desire work that is purposeful and enjoyable and relates to values similar to their own (Campbell, 1992). When agreeing to work for a company, employees assume that it will grow and provide them the opportunity to advance (Kontoghiorghes & Bryant, 2004). Since employees ultimately engage in a psychological contract between themselves and the organization, they want to know how their talents will be utilized within the organization and what they will receive in return for freely providing their services.

Employee loyalty and commitment are no longer guaranteed in an employee-employer relationship. Nonprofit employees are considered the most important asset to their organizations (Barbeito & Bowman, 1998). To attract and retain, the organization must discover ways to "engage employees so that their hearts, minds, and souls are committed to the goals of the organization" (Ulrich, 1997, p. 193). Since nonprofit organizations cannot offer higher wages and better benefits than most for-profits, they must capitalize on the emotional connection that brought employees to them and, hopefully, will guarantee their long-term commitment to the organization's mission. Therefore, it is imperative that nonprofit organizations engage in active research to



understand what will be critical in order for them to be successful and competitive in the labor market (Stubbs, 1998).

Additionally, the nonprofit's mission reflects the "heart" of the organization (Drucker, 2001b). The mission statement communicates the organization's "soul," which allows employees to understand important aspects of the organization, such as "who are we, what do we do, and where are we headed" (Helms & Frazee, 1994, p.46). The mission statement can be the motivational tool to reaffirm employees' commitment to a nonprofit's organizational purpose (Forehand, 2000). In addition, this tool can direct and invigorate not only the organization's staff, but also its volunteers, helping them focus on areas to prepare the organization to meet future goals (Glasrud, 2001).

When nonprofit organizations understand how employees relate to the mission, they can better understand what level of organizational commitment influences an employee's decision to remain with the organization. If the mission is substantiated through a harmonious workplace system, employees will fully commit themselves to the overall goals of the mission (McManus, 2000). When employees "buy into" the mission, they have a strong sense of identity and are dedicated to the principles making them more likely to stay (Bart, 1997).

Statement of the Problem

It is not known how an organization's mission impacts employee commitment in a nonprofit institution. There is a need to understand this connection to the mission and the level of commitment from employees to gain a stronger alignment between the organization and its people. Social scientists seek to understand how organizational commitment can have some bearing on employees' decisions to maintain loyalty within



the organization (Rotolo & Wilson, 2006). Nonprofit organizations more than any other sector have expressed great interest in discovering the key to retaining highly qualified employees to fulfill mission initiatives and meet organizational goals (Glasrud, 2001). A survey conducted from 2005 to the end of 2006 showed that nonprofit organizations lost nearly 30% of their employee base in that time period (Somaya & Williamson 2008). Such turnover creates additional expenses relating to recruiting, hiring, and retraining new employees. Strategic retention practices can encourage committed employees to stay and help the organization become financially secure and keep its mission in focus (Fairhurst, Jordan & Neuwirth, 1997).

In an unstable economy and facing the constant need to re-evaluate financial resources, human resources professionals have a heightened need to study ways to retain talented individuals. To address the concerns of employee retention, organizational focus within nonprofits must focus on understanding employees' attachment to the mission and how various levels of organizational commitment can have an effect on their decision to stay.

Purpose of the Study

Many nonprofit organizations use their mission statement to guide organizational decision making and to attract employees who share the same values (Brown & Yoshioka, 2003). In general, employees who express positive attitudes and attachment toward the organization's mission show greater satisfaction as permanent members of the organization (Brown & Yoshioka, 2003). The purpose of this study is to understand how employees in an affiliate nonprofit Southeast U.S.-based organization describe their



attachment to the mission and their organizational commitment in relation to their intent to remain with the organization.

The mission of a nonprofit organization defines services to be performed that benefit society, the community, or other global causes (Campbell, 1992; Bart, 1999). Members of this nonprofit organization must carry the voice and soul of the mission into the political arena so that they influence politicians and other government officials to lobby for needed funding to support social changes that can fulfill the organization's mission. The desire and need to retain these highly qualified, committed employees to balance mission needs and political influence is a primary concern to the organization. The qualitative data that will be gathered from the study will allow the researcher to explore mission attachment and organizational commitment and their effects on employee decisions to remain with the organization.

Additionally, the study will utilize Allen and Meyer's (1990) Organizational

Commitment Scale, because of its importance in understanding the levels of
organizational commitment. Data collection from studies using Allen and Meyer's

(1990) Organizational Commitment Scales was originally derived by using a quantitative
seven-point Likert scale instrument. Qualitative data proposed for this study will be
gathered from open-ended semi-structured interview questions adapted from the
statements used in the Affective, Continuance, and Normative Commitment Scales.

Utilizing an interview approach will allow participants the opportunity to provide verbal
responses which can convey more accurate emotions and experiences. The proposed
question to be answered is as follows:



How do employees describe their commitment to their organization and attachment to the mission in relationship to their intent to stay?

Rationale

Implementing an organization's best practices and understanding employees' commitment within a nonprofit organization can provide stability in a labor market where for-profit firms are formidable competitors. It is no secret that nonprofit organizations often struggle to recruit and retain highly qualified employees (Ban, Drahnak-Faller & Towers, 2003). Many nonprofit employees are often paid less than their counterparts in for-profits firms, whose education and experiences are very similar to their own (Ban, Drahnak-Faller & Towers, 2003; Emanuele & Higgins, 2000). Unfortunately, due to funding restrictions, many nonprofit organizations are not financially equipped to offer employees more generous fringe benefits that are often found in for-profit companies (Anderson & Pulich, 2000; Ban, Drahnak-Faller & Towers, 2003; Emanuele & Higgins, 2000; Karl & Sutton, 1998).

Studies have found that employees who exhibit high commitment are far less likely to leave an organization than are employees who are not committed (Porter, Steers, Mowday & Boulian, 1974; Angle and Perry, 1981). Recruiting and retaining high-performing employees is significant to the success of an organization. Committed employees tend to make positive contributions to an organization and are usually satisfied (Addae, Parboteeach & Davis, 2006).

Organizations can generate high levels of commitment from employees by having a clear mission and values that every employee supports (George, 1999). Nonprofit employees tend to be passionate about the organization's mission and want to accomplish



it (Kim & Lee, 2003). A greater understanding of the mission and the level of commitment among nonprofit employees can increase employee retention.

Strong correlations between nonprofit employees' emotional attachment to an institution's mission and their level of commitment can play a significant role in retention. Kim and Lee (2003) and Light (2002a) contend that "mission attachment has been neglected as a factor in nonprofit employee retention, although studies have reported the importance of mission attachment as a valuable tool for attracting and retaining nonprofit employees given the 'doing more with less' environment" (p. 228).

Significance of the Study

Retention of staff is more critical at the management levels than at the non-management levels (Somaya & Williamson, 2008). Low pay, lack of resources, and job pressures can cause nonprofit workers in lower job grades to seek employment in other sectors (Mirvis and Hackett, 1986). Although employees in nonprofit organizations gain satisfaction from working toward the mission, this does not mean they are completely committed to the organization and will remain as employees (Ban, Drahnak-Faller & Towers, 2003; Mirvis & Hackett, 1986).

Nonprofit leaders and HR professionals should be concerned with the retention level of management and non-management staff due to the high administrative cost and human capital loss that can occur with consistent turnover. Turnover in skilled workers with operational knowledge leads to substantial losses in knowledge and can cripple an organization (Somaya & Williamson, 2008). In addition, some experts have estimated this cost to equate to 150% of annual employee compensation (Somaya & Williamson,



2008). Mor Barak, Nissly and Levin (2001) attributed most of this turnover to limited organizational commitment from the employees.

Organizational commitment is a crucial aspect in the employment relationship (Mohamed, Taylor & Hassan, 2006). An understanding of mission attachment and organizational commitment helps to identify which employees believe in the mission and for what reasons they choose to stay with the organization (Allen & Meyer, 1990, 1996). Allen and Meyer's work provides a basic understanding of employees' feelings for, and identification with, the organization (Delobbe and Vandenberghe, 2000).

Challenges continue to exist in for-profit and nonprofit organizations in attracting and retaining employees who are dedicated and committed to achieving organizational goals. The results of this study will be useful to nonprofits' leaders and human resources professionals by demonstrating the importance of their mission in an employee's decision to join or leave the organization. The mission statement should be a marketing tool clearly communicated so that employees can identify with the values, initiatives, and organizational goals. This knowledge will further equip leaders to understand organizational commitment and how to use their mission statement as a tool to recruit and retain qualified talent.

This qualitative study explored mission attachment and organizational commitment in a nonprofit organization. The information in this study will assist nonprofit leaders and human resources professionals in designing programs and organizational strategies to retain employees more effectively while gauging their focus on attachment to the mission. No matter what decision(s) brought employees to nonprofit



organizations, continued research is required to determine the factors needed to retain these employees after they have made a commitment to join an organization.

Theoretical Framework

The theory of organizational commitment contends that employees are committed to an organization, but at different psychological levels (Allen & Meyer, 1990). Each employee exhibits different levels of interest in committing to a particular organization. Mowday (1998) believes that the emergence of studies examining organizational commitment is a result of the benefits of gaining a better understanding of employee performance and job turnovers. According to Allen and Meyer (1990), the theory behind organizational commitment essentially concerns the way in which individuals bond with other people and organizations.

Further research conducted by Allen and Meyer (1990) defined the level of commitment by suggesting that there are three dimensions or levels of commitment that can have an effect on whether employees choose to stay with an organization. The nature of these relationships depends on what dimensions of commitment the employee is seeking. Allen and Meyer's (1990) Organizational Commitment Scale explored these aspects: (1) affective commitment (refers to the need for employees to be engaged with the organization through emotional connections); (2) continuance commitment (refers to the cost impact of leaving the organization); and (3) normative commitment (refers to obligations the employees feel that ties them to the organization). Additionally, Allen and Meyer (1990) propose that individuals who have a desire to join the organization (affective commitment) are the ones who will go the extra mile to meet organizational



goals, rather than employees who are there based upon continuance or normative commitment.

This research explored commitment founded on the Three Component Model originated by Allen and Meyer (1990). Specifically, the research utilized the three components—affective commitment, continuance commitment, and normative commitment—to determine what led employees to remain with an organization. The model embraced the theory that linked the relationship between the psychological state of the employee and the organization.

Psychological commitment is another construct consistently mentioned in most literature indicating the driver influencing the development of commitment.

Psychological commitment is described as a psychological contract based on the expectation from the employee that they will be treated fairly and justly by the organization in exchange for providing the organization with loyalty, dedication, and hard work (Gomez-Mejia, Balkin & Cardy, 1998).

In today's work environment, psychological (or relational) contracts act as antecedents to organizational commitment. When an organization seeks to understand why an employee commits to one organization or another, the answer might not lie in a paper contract that outlines the salary, compensation, and job responsibilities; it may lie within the employee's psychological expectations regarding where the relationship begins.

Usually, employees who seek employment in nonprofit organizations identify with the organization's mission and values, which may be embedded in their own identifiable values that mimic those of the organization. Harrison (1987) maintains that



"caring and responsive service, not just efficiency and competence are such service that is given by people who themselves feel valued and cared for by their organization" (p. 14). Nonprofit employees attach more meaning to performing a valuable service for social causes, and the desire to fulfill this mission not only attracts them to the organization but also retains them. Overall, confidence in mission and values demonstrates the expectations that must be satisfied if belief is to lead the way toward organizational commitment.

Hiring for mission is a process by which an organization considers the job applicants' commitment to the mission as a major criterion when interviewing and evaluating whether they should be hired as employees (Passon, 1997). For over 30 years, this process has been used as a means of addressing the challenge of providing a qualified talent pool to work toward service-related activities. Although a strong mission statement can reflect the direction of the organization, the employees must be able to attach and identify themselves with the central focus of the organization's mission. It is the expectation that the belief in the mission and the connection employees have to that mission will continue to attract and retain employees in nonprofits (Mason, 1996). Exploring employees' attachment to the mission can perhaps explain its relevance in retaining employees.

Definition of Terms

Affective Commitment: An "employee's emotional attachment to, identification with, and involvement in, the organization" (Allen & Meyer, 1990, p. 1).



Attitudinal Commitment: A state in which an employee can connect with a particular organization's goal, and wants to remain in order to see those set goals fulfilled (Mowday et al., 1979).

Continuance Commitment: The perceived cost impact employees relate to when separating from a company (Allen & Meyer, 1990).

Employee Retention: An organization's method of retaining an employee's services to work toward organizational goals (Kim & Lee, 2007).

For-profit firm: An organization whose strategic goal is to make a profit and whose mission is to meet the economic interest of the shareholders (Rotolo & Wilson, 2006).

Mission: A tool that provides a clear, compelling statement of purpose that the organization disseminates both internally and externally (Brown & Yoshioka, 2003).

Mission Attachment: An "awareness of the mission, agreement with its principles, and confidence in one's ability to carry it out" (Brown & Yoshioka, 2003, p 8).

Mission Statement: Defines an organization, expressing its values and envisioning its future simply and clearly (Brown & Yoshioka, 2003).

Nonprofit Organization: An organization whose values and goals are aligned with a mission to serve a cause or help others (Fiorito, Bozeman, Young & Meurs, 2007).

Normative Commitment: A sense of obligation on behalf of the employee to want to stay employed with the organization (Allen & Meyer, 1990).

Organizational Commitment: A person's strong association and identification with an organization (Mowday et al., 1982).



Organizational Commitment Questionnaire: A widely used 15-item scale designed to assess one's acceptance of organizational values, willingness to exert efforts, and desire to maintain membership in the organization (Mowday et al., 1979; Porter et al., 1974).

Psychological Contract: A psychological contract between the employee and employer occurs when the employee believes that he will be treated fairly in return for providing the employer with his labor (Rousseau, 1989).

Volunteers: People who freely offer help or service to others, theoretically unknown to them, without receiving or expecting any economic reward (Cnaan & Goldberg-Glen, 1991).

Assumptions and Limitations

Research studies have many assumptions and limitations. These are often concerned with the way in which the study is generalized to a specific population. Leedy and Ormrod (2005) propose that assumptions are what the researcher takes for granted, and may cause misunderstanding within the study.

One major assumption was that all solicited participants would show sufficient interest in the proposed study to provide thought-provoking, honest responses to the interview questions. Another assumption was that common core themes would emerge within the study to support the research question. Although research studies have given some attention to mission and mission-related hiring, no specific study has attempted to establish a qualitative congruity of mission attachment and organizational commitment among nonprofit employees. This qualitative exploratory study attempted to fill this gap in literature. The intention of this study was not to make any generalizations for a large



population; it was to gain a deeper understanding of a smaller population regarding mission attachment and organizational commitment among nonprofit employees.

Creswell (1998) contended that limitations reveal the weaknesses of an identified study. An identified limitation to this study was that it was strictly voluntary. No one was forced to participate. Additionally, the sample size was not differentiated by gender, age, or demographic status because doing so would not represent the broader population. One final limitation to this study was that the researcher did not live in the same geographical locations as the participants, so face-to-face interviews were not conducted. The researcher's ability to observe participants' facial expressions and body language would have added more contexts to the scope of the study during data collection and analysis; however, the need to travel to a different state, along with conflicting schedules from consenting participants, would have made this study far too expensive and time-consuming.

Organization of the Remainder of the Study

Chapter 2 of this research presents a literature review. Chapter 3 describes the methodology and research design which will include a discussion of the target population, the study sample, and the measurement instrument from which data will be collected and examined. Chapter 4 presents the data analysis. Chapter 5 presents the results of the study and provides recommendations for further research.



CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

Chapter 2 will provide a brief examination of research related to the nonprofit organization and its employees to establish the context for mission attachment and the psychological levels of organizational commitment. Further examination of organizational commitment exposes the psychological contract and relationship that employees can have with the organization, which affect their intent to remain.

Nonprofit Organizations

Nonprofit organizations play important roles within the U.S. economy. According to Gose (2005), within the last 25 years, the number of nonprofits registered with the IRS has increased by 38%. Small neighborhood-based nonprofits whose annual income is below \$5,000 do not have to register with the IRS and are not counted in total registered nonprofits; this under-represents the overall number of nonprofits (Berry, 2005).

Various nonprofit organizations provide needed services to support the quality of life for many individuals (Drucker, 2001b). As social demand increases, more nonprofits will emerge to support the many programs and services needed. Nonprofit organizations are advocates for the poor and disadvantaged in a political system that offers few resolutions to their social needs (Berry, 2005).

Traditionally, nonprofits exist to provide a positive change in the lives of people through the unselfish work of staff and volunteers (Hansenfield, 1992). Salamon (1999) identified six characteristics of nonprofit organizations: (1) nonprofits are formal organizations which manage under related laws, have the ability to hold property, take on



various contracts, and persevere through a long period of time; (2) nonprofits are private organizations apart from the government; (3) they are nonprofit-distributing; (4) they are largely self-governing; (5) there is not a mandatory requirement for participating on the board; it is voluntary; and (6) they serve some public benefit.

The United States social welfare system has depended on nonprofits to fill the needs that the government system does not provide (Smith, 1998). Nonprofits tend to be flexible, which allow them to tailor national or state programs to fit local needs (Smith, 1998). These nonprofits have demonstrated their worth by continuing to provide valuable services to others (Gerstein, Wilkeson, & Anderson, 2004).

Many nonprofits are viewed as low-cost, but efficient, organizations staffed by professionals and volunteers committed to work tirelessly toward their mission (Berry, 2005). Unlike for-profit firms, nonprofits are not committed to the distribution of profitable earnings, but rely on generous funding from numerous donors and constituents willing to invest in charitable projects (Emanuele & Higgins, 2000). The condition of nonprofits is best explained by Halpern (1998):

The nonprofit sector is under duress, both from within and from without. By the year 2020, it may well have changed so much as to be unrecognizable, or may simply not exist. Those who believe in its importance have failed to explore seriously the issues at stake or to promote public awareness of the issues. We must recognize that although there have been huge changes in the world in the past quarter-century; nonprofit practitioners have not done the work of self-renewal that needs to be done. What is needed now is a concerted effort both to champion the nonprofit sector against attacks and to reconfigure it to make it more effective and accountable in relation to the new economic, political, and social realities we face. We need to seize the opportunity to shape the nonprofit sector of the future. (p. 5)



Nonprofit Employees

Throughout American history, service to others has been highly valued (Gerstein, Wilkerson & Anderson 2004). Employees work for nonprofit organizations to achieve a higher quality of life for many individuals who fall through the cracks (Drucker, 1989). Nonprofit organizations take seriously the need to provide for those whom others choose to ignore. Berry's (2005) theory of post-materialism suggests that people are in search of ways to contribute to the greater good through involvement with, and contributions to, communities and nonprofit organizations.

Employees are considered the most valuable assets many organizations possess (Passon, 1997). Nonprofits have approximately 12.5 million Americans working for them, and they are responsible for approximately six percent of the gross domestic product (Moore, 2004). Employees seek fulfillment within the employer-employee relationship, where growth, job satisfaction, and shared values inspire loyalty and motivation to work toward organizational goals (Capelli, 2000). The prevailing view has been that an increasing proportion of the workforce has been attracted to employment within the nonprofit sector to support various social programs and mission initiatives (Mirvis & Hackett, 1983).

Nonprofits, like for-profits and government agencies, seek to recruit and retain the most qualified, talented individuals. In addition, nonprofits seek candidates who want to support their mission (Akingbola, 2006). Although nonprofit organizations do not make supporting the mission a condition of employment, candidates who are able to align with organizational goals and shared mission values are better at promoting and working on needed projects and programs. When alignment and attachment have been made, many



of the candidates become tenured employees who remain with the organization and are content working toward mission goals that serve for the betterment of others.

Nonprofit organizations continue to face numerous challenges as they enter the twenty-first century (Alexander, 1999). A study of several large nonprofits in 1999 showed that not only did they lack needed revenue flow, but they also lacked needed knowledgeable staff who could adjust to increasing social needs (Alexander, 1999). In a society where the wheels of organizational structure are propelled by the knowledge of acquired human capital, competition for this commodity must not be taken lightly.

According to Alexander (1999), the biggest challenge for nonprofits is the ability to attract and retain knowledgeable workers. Nonprofit and for-profit firms compete to attract highly skilled and competent workers from the same labor pool (Jeavons, 1994; Sunoo, 1998; Emanuele & Higgins, 2000). The same talent and skills necessary to administer and manage for-profit firms are equally important in successfully driving nonprofits' organizational missions. This need to attract and retain human capital has become a major issue for numerous nonprofit organizations (Harkins, 1998; Weiss, 1997).

Intrinsic and extrinsic rewards can be factors in both for-profit firms and nonprofit organizations. Mirvis and Hackett (1983) explained that in for-profit firms, employees are motivated by extrinsic rewards, such as promotions or increased compensation, whereas nonprofit employees are motivated by intrinsic rewards, such as flexibility, opportunities, and working toward a greater cause. The intrinsic rewards allow employees to accept lower wages yet enjoy greater satisfaction in the work they perform



to improve the quality of life for many other individuals (Mirvis & Hackett, 1983). Cheverton (2007) contends:

It is unlikely that nonprofit organizations have mainly attracted those employees who systemically react to extrinsic rewards i.e., income maximizer and status-oriented employee ... nonprofit organizations are more attractive for loyal employees who identify themselves with the mission and organizational goals. Achieving the organization's mission rather than increasing the organization's surplus or individuals' salaries are what motivate those working in the nonprofit sector. (p. 430)

Studies have shown that nonprofit employees have values different from those of private-sector employees due to the various economic reasons that attracted them (Mason, 1996; Karl & Sutton, 1998; Macy, 2006). According to Dove (1997), "Values are evaluative standards relating to work or the work environment by which individuals discern what is right or assess the importance of preferences" (p. 227). When employees are at odds with the collective values of the organization, retention, commitment, and emotional attachment cannot form due to the misalignment that is present. Therefore, if values are asserted as an important factor, the need to have individuals with personal values that are similar or identical to those held by the organization leads to commitment levels greater than those of individuals whose personal values differ from those of the organization (Finegan, 2000).

Nonprofit employees work together better when they realize they share the same values (Andrews, 1992). Additionally, nonprofits tend to have employees whose values are connected to the overall mission of the company and are mainly tied to intrinsic rewards. However in for-profit firms, for-profit employees' values are usually tied to those extrinsic rewards that compensate them based upon the firm's overall performance and that have a direct link to the mission (Townsend, 2000).



Many nonprofit employees operate in ways similar to volunteers. Volunteers are willing to give their talents and labor freely without a compensatory market return for their time (Weisbrod, 1983; Finegan, 2000; Macy, 2006). Nonprofit employees do receive compensatory rewards for their labor; however, it is not as competitively given as those who work in for-profit firms. The connection to their shared values and the belief in the mission of the organization are two of the reasons many nonprofit employees willingly forgo higher salaries and other benefits to remain with an organization where providing service to others is the center of focus (Emanuele & Higgins, 2000).

Individuals also come to nonprofit organizations with high aspirations and much passion to work toward accomplishing a mission that other corporations do not completely meet, namely, serving charitable needs (Meehan III, 2008). Giving of oneself has its own rewards for those who value the servant role. Berry (2005) contends that "theories of post-materialism suggest that in a country such as ours, people search for meaning in their lives and try to contribute to the greater good through nonprofits, involvement in the community, and charitable activities" (p. 568).

Some for-profit firms also have the desire to assist in charitable needs; however, their needs are usually based on social responsibility that the community places on them for operating a business within their domain. For-profit employees want to work for companies that are socially responsible; however, their intentions may be twofold. While employees want to express their commitment to community involvement, they also want opportunities for personal advancement through networking and connection with other companies (Bhattacharya, Sen & Korschum, 2008).



Value of Retention

Due the various studies showing a link between employee turnover and commitment, retention continues to be the most researched and studied outcome in organizational commitment (Allen & Meyer, 1990; Meyer & Allen, 1997; Porter et al., 1974). As more employers strive to find the best strategy to retain current employees and attract new ones, organizations continue to maintain an interest in retention because of the influence it can have on productivity and work-related issues (Cook, 2000; Mor Barak, Nissly, & Levin, 2001). Two important factors in helping to support a nonprofit organization are maintenance of loyalty of donors and constituents, and retention of highly qualified talent to work toward mission-related causes (Ban, Drohnak & Towers, 2003). Each of these factors is equally important in order to meet expectations that are measured not only internally, but also externally, by needed funding, which is evident in the growing social needs that most corporate and government sectors are unable or unwilling to meet.

Filling vacant positions in the nonprofit world can be an overwhelming task that impacts training, service offering, and searching for qualified candidates (Kim & Lee, 2007). Since the burden of providing needed social services lies at the door of nonprofit organizations, the nonprofit sector needs not only to attract the right talent but also to retain these individuals (Emanuele & Higgins, 2000). Retention of valued employees is needed to support their mission and meet organizational goals (Schneider & Bowen, 1985; Lambert, Hogan & Barton, 2001; Saari & Judge, 2004). Alexander (1999) declared:



One of the biggest challenges for nonprofits in competition with for-profits involves holding on to "knowledge worker" employees with portable skills, often in the form of credentials or professional licensing, who through their training may develop greater allegiance to their professions than to the organization in which they work". (p. 68)

Recruitment is critical for nonprofit organizations and many for-profit firms.

Candidates who are selected for needed vacancies must not only present the valued knowledge and skills for the job, but also must believe in the mission and values of the nonprofit. Some of the competencies they require from candidates to meet challenges in their work environments can be exclusive, and certain skill sets are needed that may include knowledge of other nonprofit organizations or charities.

Although research has not provided evidence to support mission-centered hiring, Brown and Yoshioka (2002) contend that, although nonprofit leaders might not require employees to believe in the mission as a condition of employment, a nonprofit's mission plays an important part in daily management functions and operations. Therefore, it is imperative for nonprofit leaders and human resources managers to look at recruiting as an important strategic function.

Frequent turnover of staff in an organization can negate efficient recruiting efforts. In a study conducted by the Institute for Future Aging Services, costs of turnover for nursing aides ranged from \$2,000 to \$5,276 for a paraprofessional direct care worker (Kim & Lee, 2007). Much of the direct cost is usually absorbed in the salaries of human resources professionals, training, and overtime pay for the employees who have to fill the gaps. In addition, work that is delegated to remaining staff can cause burnout and other stress-related issues.



Employees choose to leave their place of employment due to unmet expectations, values misalignment, and lack of recognition (Mirvis & Hackett, 1983). Harkins (1998) suggested that employees choose to leave organizations for five reasons: (1) the confidence factor (when employees lose confidence and hope, they begin to think the "grass is greener" in another company, where there seems to be more focus); (2) the emotional factor (employees leave an organization because they lack recognition, adequate rewards, and focus on personal development); (3) the trust factor (too many broken promises from the employer destroy employees' sense of loyalty); (4) the fit factor (employees need to feel that their values and principles match those of the organization); and (5) the listening factors (employees want to be heard, and if the organization continues to ignore them, they feel staying is not worthwhile). The fit and trust factor closely align with organizational commitment wherein employees want to remain with an organization where their own values, feelings, and loyalty closely align with those of their employer.

In an effort to retain staff, some nonprofit organizations attempt to meet some financial and nonfinancial expectations to assure employees that they have made the right decision to join and remain as valued workers who will continue to support the mission. Brandel (2001) contends that some nonprofits use the following benefits to retain employees: (1) superb and supported work-life balance; (2) generous time off; (3) flexible work schedules; and (4) sabbaticals. Although many of these benefits might not be included in all nonprofit organizations, most of them are standard recruiting and retention tools (Brandel, 2001).



Due to corporate and organizational downsizing, outsourcing, and resizing, many organizations are left with little to offer in the area of compensation and benefits.

Barbeito and Bowman (1998) posited that although most nonprofit employees work toward the mission, nonprofits should continue to enhance their employee benefits to maintain a somewhat competitive advantage. Most significantly, employers should understand the psychological contract that led the employee to the organization in the beginning. The attachment to the mission is only the beginning of employees' expectations that influence their decision to join and remain with the organization.

Mission Attachment

The goals, beliefs, and values of many organizations are expressed in their mission statements, which adorn walls, are printed on pens and mugs, and are published in the organization's literature. The mission can date back centuries to the origins of an organization and reflect the principles on which it was founded. Abrahams (1999) highlights the purpose of the mission when he states, "The mission should guide behaviors like the Ten Commandments, defining values and behavior standards" (p. 449). Abrahams (1999) reported that "mission statements have been a part of working life and human history since the beginning of time ... with the first mission statement recorded in the book of Genesis in the command 'Be fruitful and multiply'" (p. 7).

Drucker (2001a) proposed that the cause of most business leaders' frustration is the inadequate thought given to the organization's mission and the psychological link between the employee and the organization. McManus (2000) adds:

People have the option of embracing the mission or not. This will not realize the true synergistic power that comes from having a clearly articulated mission unless



we take the opportunity to understand how people identify themselves with it and the organization. (p. 20)

Drucker (1989) reported that the best nonprofits devote a great deal of thought to defining their organizational mission. A shared mission among employees can become the basis for defining an organization's structure, goals, and values (Desmid & Prinzie, 2008; George, 1999; Glasrud, 2001). Instilling a sense of alignment where employees and the mission are congruent can be a critical element of success (Whitham, 2007). Furthermore, Goll and Sambharya (1995) explained, "The mission has a unifying power that ties the individual to the organization and contributes to an espirit de corps" (p. 828).

Hesselbein and Cohen (1999), authorities on nonprofit organizations and their mission, stated that "at the heart of every great group is a shared dream, and all great groups believe that ... they could change the world ... that belief is what brings the necessary cohesion and energy to their work" (p. 317). Employees want to feel that they relate to and understand the mission of the organization and how it aligns with the overall strategic direction. Bettinger (1990) contended:

In order to excel, we all need something to believe in; something that will exert a powerful, consistent influence on our day-to-day behaviors; something that will forge a common will to achieve high performance; and something that will enable us to reach our determined objectives. (p. 158)

However, Helms and Frazee (1994) cautioned that one should not assume that all employees, especially those in nonprofits, understand and closely identify with the mission and how it relates to the organization, without providing data to determine whether this synergy has taken place.



In a survey conducted with child welfare caseworkers, Rycraft (1994) reported that attachment to the mission was the number one reason for staying. A 2002 Brookings Institution survey of 1,213 human services workers concluded that nonprofit employees tend to be the most satisfied of all sectors, and that mission remains the major attraction for nonprofit employees (Light, 2003). These results show that employees who are less likely to exit the organization are those who find themselves more committed (Delobbe & Vandenberghe, 2000).

Certain key factors can influence the way nonprofit employees relate to the organization's mission. Kristoff (1996) identified the following two determining factors: (1) The organization's purpose must be salient in the employees' minds. Are they aware of the organization's mission and value? (2) The employees must agree with the expressed purpose and values of the organization. Are they committed? However, Mason (1996) stated that employees must feel a psychological or emotional connection with the mission to enable them to make a commitment to the organization.

Several studies have been conducted on various levels of mission attachment. A quantitative study led by Brown and Yoshioka (2003) inquired into the congruity of mission attachment and job satisfaction factors bearing on employee retention. The study surveyed 991 nonprofit youth and recreation employees to examine their attitudes toward the mission and their intent to stay with the organization. The study included 16 different geographical locations to obtain a broader sample. Brown and Yoshioka (2003) assessed mission attachment through four statements from which employees could gauge their awareness of and contributions to the organization's mission: (1) I am aware of the direction and mission of the organization; (2) The programs and staff at my branch



support the mission; (3) I like to work for the organization because I believe in its mission and values; and (4) My work contributes to carrying out the mission of the organization. The employees answered the questions based on a four-point Likert scale, in which the lower numbers indicated higher levels of agreement. The study revealed that tenured employees expressed a greater attachment to the mission and commitment to stay than employees who had only been with the organization for a short period of time due to the work they were providing for the community.

Brown and Yoshioka (2003) found that all facets of satisfaction of mission attachment and intention to stay were positively correlated with each other. They posited that one of the major reasons employees stayed with an organization was "their belief in the mission and the desire to help people" (p. 13). However, they added:

Despite the mission's significant and fundamental role in the management and leadership of nonprofits, we know relatively little about how employees perceive the mission and how those perceptions relate to other organizational attitudes (such as satisfaction) and behaviors (such as turnover). (p. 6)

Given the significant value that mission can have in an organization, it is surprising that so little research has been done in this area (Bolon, 2005).

Mission Statement Weakness

Mission statements can have a positive effect on the structure and goals of an organization. Bart (1999) warned that "despite the prevalence of mission statements, there is little guidance available for how they should be managed" (p. 37). When a mission statement becomes disjointed from its purpose and values, it can lose power to develop commitment among its employees. McManus (2000) contended:



Missions are like quality systems: All organizations have them even though they aren't very effective. Unfortunately, it is often the case that the mission statement printed on company mugs, T-shirts, banners, and business cards is inconsistent with what employees experience each day in company cubicles, board rooms, and assembly areas. (p. 20)

The mission statement should be congruent with the daily activities of the workplace and consistent with the values and principles that it has documented. The mission should be the heartbeat of the organization, pulling employers and employees together in harmony. If employees are perplexed about the clarity and direction of the mission statement, the rest of society may be experiencing the same ambiguity and confusion.

Senior leadership expends little effort to ensure that mission statements are properly formulated before they are released (Bart 1997). Consistent changes in an organization due to various economic or social factors can cause a paradigm shift in the overall strategic direction. If the mission statement is no longer congruent with the goals of the organization, the statement becomes obsolete and should be replaced with one that reflects its current goals. When mission statements become outdated, employees lose confidence in organizational goals and how they will be accomplished. Bart (1997) added, "It is hard to imagine any substantial team-building with an organization where there is so little agreement on something so fundamental to organizational success as the mission" (p. 12).

A mission statement should be clearly understood and articulated so that each employee can understand how it relates to his or her work. McManus (2000) cautioned that if the employees cannot understand how to embrace the mission, the organization "will not realize the true synergistic power that comes from having a clearly articulated



mission that most of the workforce takes serious ownership in" (p. 20). Consequently, the fact that most external stakeholders, such as donors or other constituents rely heavily on the mission means that it is crucial to the operation of the organization for the mission statement to connect the people to its goals clearly. Further, McManus asks, "If all of the mission-decorated banners, mugs, and wall hangings were removed from the organization, would people still know what the mission is?" (p. 20).

In a study of principals from high- and low-performing schools, Chubb and Moore (1990) found that academic excellence was achieved in high-performing public schools where shared mission and ideology among principal and teachers was a major component in overall academic success. Recurring themes in the study included the importance of school mission and the articulation and support from leadership.

Researchers since the 1970s have recognized a school's or a department's vision or collective sense of purpose as a vital characteristic for successful and improving schools (Conger, 1991).

Shared Vision

When nonprofit leaders want to boost the effectiveness of their organization, they set their sights on rejuvenating the mission (Kilpatrick & Silverman, 2005). Without a clear vision of the mission, nonprofits lose focus and are unable fulfill the strategic mission's critical goals. Deciding how to use the shared vision as a tool to keep the organization focused may lead to innovative ways by which returns on charitable dollars can be gainfully recognized.

Long before mission statements were used as the focus of organizations, shared vision was a way to connect the employees with the beliefs and values of the



organization. Mission statements are shared visions that fuse the understanding of the beliefs, values, and goals of the organization. Acquiring a sense of shared vision among employees is not an easy task (McManus, 2000). According to Kilpatrick and Silverman (2005),

most effective visions comprise a compelling, easy-to-understand description of how the nonprofit would like the world to change in the next three to five years, what role the organization will play in that change, and how the nonprofit will measure the success of its role. (p. 25)

Senge (1990) is an advocate of shared vision. He contends that "the practice of shared vision involves the skills of unearthing shared 'pictures of the future' that foster genuine commitment and enrollment rather than compliance" (p. 9). Many employees gain a sense of self-worth from their jobs (Bellah, Madsen, Sullivan, Swidler & Tipton, 1985). It is these values that employees hold that create a sense of shared vision.

Senge (1990) understands that merely writing a vision statement (mission statement) does not provide a shared vision. It is a good beginning, but a shared vision expands due to a reinforcing process. Senge contends that "increased clarity, enthusiasm and commitment rub off on others in the organization, and as people talk the vision grows clear; as it gets clear, enthusiasm for its benefits grow" (p. 227). This type of camaraderie provides a collective commitment and vision to the organization that can provide focus and clarity to meet the mission's critical goals. Calfee (1993) emphasized, "Whether it is called a mission statement or vision statement, such a description of the road ahead, of how the organization defines success, and of important shared values and beliefs can have a powerful and positive impact on the organization" (p. 54).



Organizational Commitment

Within the last several years, organizational commitment has surfaced as a fundamental concept in the investigation of work attitudes and behavior (Meyer & Allen, 1991; Meyer & Allen, 1984; Reichers, 1985). Organizational commitment continues to be a chief variable in the study of employment and organizations (Fiorito, Bozeman, Young & Meurs, 2007). This study of organizational commitment can help clarify the linkage between an individual and the organization (Porter, Steers, Mowday & Boulian, 1974; Mowday, Steers & Porter, 1979).

Over the years, scholars have proposed various definitions for organizational commitment. Sheldon (1971) described organizational commitment as a way of thinking that connected the individual's characteristics to the organization. Prior research from Porter, Steers, Mowday and Boulian (1974) looked at commitment from the relationship of the connection and engagement that a person has with the organization. Mowday, Steers and Porter (1979) asserted that "organizational commitment represents something beyond mere passive loyalty to an organization; it involves an active relationship with the organization such that individuals are willing to give something of themselves in order to contribute to the organizational commitment as a theory which deals with the psychological links with which an individual can bond to other individuals or organizations" (p. 230).

Elizur and Koslowsky (2001) posited organizational commitment as the emotional and functional attachment of an employee to his work place. All of these definitions show the bond of individuals to their organizations. This view of commitment by Allen and Meyer (1990) derived from Kanter (1968) variously described as "cohesion



commitment" or "the attachment of an individual's emotion to the group" (p. 507). Each one of the definitions describes a distinct level at which the employee was engaged with the organization. However, Meyer and Allen (1990) propose that an individual's psychological state can be determined on three separate commitment levels.

Three Component Model of Organizational Commitment

Early research from Meyer and Allen (1984) intended only to show a difference between two commitments, continuance and affective. Several studies address these two major theories of organizational commitment, which provide much of the literature relating to understanding the construct of organizational commitment. It was later that Allen and Meyer (1990) introduced the third component, normative, which related to the perceived obligation for an individual to remain with an organization and which, along with the other two components, collectively conceptualized the Three Component Model. The conceptualized model embraced the concept there is a relationship between the psychological state of the employee and the organization.

Allen and Meyer (1990) and Meyer and Allen (1991) hypothesized that organizational commitment is a paradigm with three distinct elements: affective (the need for employees to be committed and engaged on an emotional level); continuance (the need for or the awareness of the cost of leaving the organization); and normative (the feeling of obligation to remain). Other research findings have concluded that affective, continuance, and normative have characteristics which differentiate them (Dunham, Grube & Castaneda, 1994; McGee & Ford, 1987; Reilly & Orsak, 1991). Allen and Meyer (1990) contend that employees experience all three forms of commitment to varying degrees, which can influence behavior. For example, one employee may feel a



strong obligation to remain with the organization but little or no desire or emotional attachment to stay, whereas another employee may have a strong emotional attachment to the organization but little obligation to remain. Additionally, an employee may have a connection to all three of the components to varying degrees; however, each component develops separately and can result in various effects on employees work behaviors, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions (Allen & Meyer, 1990: Meyer & Allen, 1991, 1997).

Buchanan (1974) stated, "Commitment is viewed as a partisan, affective attachment to the goals and values of an organization, to one's role in relation to goals and values, and to the organization for its own sake, apart from its purely instrumental worth" (p. 533). This definition predated Allen and Meyer (1990) and Meyer and Allen's (1991) exploration of organizational commitment as a multidimensional construct. Furthermore, Buchanan (1974) identified the three components associated with organizational commitment: (1) a sense of identification with the organizational mission; (2) a feeling of involvement or psychological immersion in organization duties; and (3) a feeling of loyalty and affection for the organization as a place to live and work, quite apart from the merits of its mission or its purely instrumental value to the individual.

Allen and Meyer's (1990) model borrowed from Becker's (1960) model of continuance commitment, the second component in their model. Becker's research was limited to measuring the cost or loss associated with employees leaving the organization. Becker's (1960) model recognized this loss and contended that "without this recognition, there is no commitment" (p. 65). However, a study conducted by Meyer and Allen (1984), involving university students and their level of commitment to their academic studies, showed that the students had an affective attachment to their academic program



instead of a continuance commitment. This study was contrary to Becker's (1960) model, which suggested that individuals are committed due to the perceived costs of disassociation directly related to continuance commitment.

Allen and Meyer's (1990) Three-component model continues to be regarded as the dominant model in organizational research (Bentein, Vandenberg, Vandenberghe, & Stinglhamber, 2005; Cohen, 2003; Greenberg & Baron, 2003). The Three Component Model has been used in various public and private sectors, and the studies have resulted in an accumulation of evidence involving different effects on work behaviors (Meyer & Allen, 1988, 1997). Consequently, the model continues to have the best relevance for individuals conducting research on commitment.

According to Meyer and Allen (1991) the three-component model continues to:

(a) specify clearly the nature of the construct under examination, (b) use measures that are reliable and valid indicators of the intended construct, (c) examine the proposed antecedent-commitment and commitment-behavioral links using procedures designed to test the implicit casual hypotheses, (d) explore the relations among the components of commitment, both within and across time, as well as the link between affective and behavioral commitment, and (e) pay greater attention to the processes involved in both the development and consequences of commitment. (p. 83)

Meyer and Allen (1991) suggest that human resources professionals use the model as more than a tool to measure and reduce turnover, but use it in a way to "increase commitment among employees including their personal well-being and willingness to work toward the attainment of organizational goals" (p. 83).

Psychological Contracts

Another concept frequently mentioned in literature pertaining to organizational commitment has been psychological contracts. Before elucidating the components of



organizational commitment, one must understand how and why the psychological contracts are formed between the employer and employee, for these can have a detrimental effect on the relationship and commitment level.

The term *psychological contract* originated in research done in the 1960s (Morrison & Robinson, 1997). The term was cited by Morrison and Robinson (1997) from researchers Levinson, Price Munden, and Solley (1962) who defined it as:

expectations about the reciprocal obligations that compose an employeeorganization exchange relationship. More specifically ... a psychological contract [is] a set of beliefs about what each party is entitled to receive, and obligated to give, in exchange for another party's contributions. (p. 228)

Although traditional definitions are helpful in understanding the origin of a term or theory, further explanation of a theory is imperative to understand it in today's everchanging work environment.

Rousseau and Grueller (1994) described the psychological contract as "an individual's system of belief, shaped by the organization, regarding terms of an exchange agreement between the employee and the organization" (p. 385). Additionally, Spindler (1994) defined the contract as "the bundle of unexpressed expectations that exist at the interfaces between humans" (p. 326). According to Coyle-Shapiro and Shore (2007), the traditional psychological contract alluded to the employer providing job security in exchange for employees' commitment to performing their jobs. Collectively, understanding of the psychological contract given by various researchers represents the belief on the part of employees that they will be treated in a fair and equitable manner in return for giving their talents and dedication to their work (Morrison & Robinson, 1997).



Even more important to the relational aspect of the contract is the behavior that the organization exhibits toward its employees (Parks & Schmedermann, 1994). Since the psychological contract is the basis of the relationship between the employer and the employee, the various components of organizational commitment are based on the subjective expectations and commitment level of each employee. Research has indicated that violating this contract can lead to severe consequences for the employee and the employer if what was promised does not match what has been received (Robinson, 1996). An understanding of the psychological contract with individuals in relationship to the Three Component Organizational Commitment Scale in which behaviors and expectations can be known may determine whether the psychological bond one has with the mission ensures his or her continuance with the organization.

Affective Commitment

Several research studies in organizational commitment have maintained a focal point in the area of affective commitment (Mohamed, Taylor & Hassan, 2006). Affective commitment has also been called *attitudinal commitment* (Mowday et al. 1979); Riketta, 2002; Karin & Noor, 2006). Meyer and Allen (1991) explained:

Attitudinal commitment focuses on the process by which people come to think about their relationship with the organization. In many ways it can be thought of as a mind set in which individuals consider the extent to which their own values and goals are congruent with those of the organization. (p. 62)

Several definitions have been cited in defining affective commitment, which is primarily associated with the research of Porter et al. (1974) and Mowday et al. (1979). According to Porter et al. (1974), affective commitment comprises the following: "(1) a strong belief in and acceptance of the organizational goals and values; (2) a willingness to



exert considerable effort on behalf of the organization; and (3) a desire to maintain organizational membership" (p. 604). A definition from Salancik and Pfeffer (1997) describes affective commitment as "a psychological bond, a personal attachment to the organization" (p. 65). Furthermore, Mowday et al. (1979) link affective commitment to attitudinal commitment, which relates to a person's identification and involvement with the organization. Despite the various definitions proposed for affective commitment, most researchers agree that affective commitment is the most desirable predictor of employee retention (Allen et al., 2003; Meyer & Smith, 2000; Rhoades et al., 2002).

Employees who exhibit a strong affective commitment have an emotional bond with the organization; they want to become involved; and they desire to remain a member of the organization (Meyer & Allen, 1984; Allen & Meyer, 1987; Meyer, Sampo et al., 1989). When organizational members exhibit affective commitment, they portray a degree of loyalty that causes employees to give more to the organization than the general expectations of what would be considered normal commitment (Gould, 1979). If the theory is a true predictor of affective commitment, when affective commitment is based on the shared values and emotional ties that nonprofit employees have to the mission, then tenure with the organization can be gained by their commitment to achieve the overall purpose of the organization's mission.

Empirical data, through social theory, presented how employees who are supported and cared for by their organization exhibited more affective commitment (Eisenberger et al. 1990; Allen et al., 2003). Being treated with a sense of dignity and respect makes the employees feel that the organization values their talent and is equally concerned for their well-being (Mohamed et al., 2006). As with nonprofit employees, the



intrinsic rewards that are emotionally rooted in the organization bind them to the organization, which results in more of a commitment to stay.

A survey conducted by Mohamed et al (2006) of 1,450 corrections officers in a Mid-South region of the United States resulted in a positive statistical correlation to affective commitment based on the hypothesis that a caring and supportive work environment raised employees' levels of affective commitment. To measure the degree of affective commitment among corrections officers, Mohamed et al. (2006) study used statements such as "I have a strong sense of loyalty to the Department of Corrections", and "I made a good decision when I came to work for the Department of Corrections" (p. 519). Mohamed et al. concluded that their study showed consistency with previous research conducted by Eisenberger et al. (1990) where intangibles, identified as motivating factors, played a major in role in how the employees felt about the organization and their commitment level to it. When organizations offer the support system needed by employees, they demonstrate a positive level of commitment to remain with the organization and support its goals.

Other theorists' evidence shows that employees tend to exemplify greater affective commitment when the organization supports and cares for them (Eisenberger et al., 1990; Allen et al., 2003; Rhoades et al., 2003). Nonprofit employees work for the organization because they feel a sense of emotional attachment to the mission work. One way to gain affective commitment and organizational support is through positive human resources practices and concern shown by the organization for the employees (Mohamed, Taylor & Hassan, 2006).



Several studies have shown the relationships that exist among affective commitment and absenteeism, turnover, and performance (Mowday et al. 1982; Mathieu & Zajac, 1990; Meyer & Allen, 1997). Blau and Boal (1987) contended that employees who exhibited affective commitment had high job involvement and were least likely to leave the organization. These employees are more involved in the organization and committed to driving mission initiatives. Allen and Meyer (1990) posited that:

the most prevalent approach to organizational commitment in the literature is one in which commitment is considered an affective or emotional attachment to the organization such that the strongly committed individual identifies with, is involved in, and enjoys membership in, the organization. (p. 2)

Continuance Commitment

The research on continuance commitment has not been as complete as the attention given to affective commitment (Meyer & Smith, 2000). Continuance commitment is portrayed as the most straightforward, compared to the other commitment levels (Allen & Meyer, 1990). Continuance commitment describes an individual's need to remain with the organization based on the perceived cost of leaving (Meyer & Smith, 2000). This level of commitment tends to focus on the rationale behind an employee's decision to leave the organization. To elaborate, Meyer and Allen (1991) explained, "In the case of continuance commitment to an organization, a side bet is made when something of importance to an individual becomes contingent upon continued employment in that organization" (p. 64).

The employees' perceived cost of leaving an organization can be tangible or intangible, or it can be based on economic reasons (Rhoades, Eisenberger & Armeli, 2001). Some of those recognized continuance costs can be realized in (1) the costs in



losing good pay; (2) the costs related to a new job search; (3) the costs related to relocation; and (4) the costs in losing good contacts and networks (Dordevic, 2004). In addition, other factors, such as age or specialized job skills, can prevent employees from exploring viable alternatives.

Meyer and Allen (1990) contend that those employees whose skills are not marketable would not experience continuance commitment until the time at which their skills are congruent with the market. In addition, Meyer and Allen (1990) added, "In some cases, potential costs develop as the direct result of actions taken by the employee with full recognition that they will make leaving the organization more difficult (e.g., accepting a job assignment that requires very specialized skills training)" (p. 77). Furthermore, Meyer, Bobocel and Allen (1991) contended that, with new employees, they would factor in the time dedicated to the job search and the training as wasted if they left the organization.

A research study by Meyer et al. (1989) on employees in a food services organization found that when the commitment from the employee is based solely on recognition of the costs of leaving the organization, benefits of decreased turnover can be gained, but it will be at the cost of poor performance. The level of performance will continue to be minimal, and the employee will continue to stay with the organization simply because they cannot afford to leave. As such, the employee becomes committed to the organization based only upon the costs associated with leaving. Additionally, Fiorito et al. (2007) warn that even incentive pay can become problematic when employees are more committed to the pay earnings than to the organization. Therefore, organizations should be careful when rapidly promoting employees or offering other



specialized organizational training and incentives that bind employees to the organization when only the thought of losing these benefits retains them.

Normative Commitment

Normative commitment has received relatively less attention than the other two types of commitment (Dunham, Grube & Castaneda, 1994). This component has been described as an organizational member's feeling of obligation to stay with the organization (Wiener, 1982; Meyer & Smith, 2000). It is this pressure of personal loyalty or obligation that creates normative commitment.

The third mind-set in the three-component model was labeled as normative commitment, which provided a link between affective and normative commitment in that both require a sense of employee loyalty to the organization (Allen & Meyer, 1990; Meyer & Allen, 1984, 1991). O'Reilly and Chatman (1986) utilized the label of normative commitment to replace the terms *identification* and *internalization* in their multidimensional model. However, their interpretation of the term is closely related to Meyer and Allen's definition of affective commitment and should not be interpreted as a duplicate of Meyer and Allen's definition of normative commitment (Caldwell et al., 1990; O'Reilly et al., 1986).

According to Williams (2004), normative commitment is defined as the employees' perception of their obligation to their organization. Scholars have argued that normative commitment is described as the employee's strong feeling of obligation to the organization while working toward an obtainable goal (Meyer, & Herscovitch, 2001). When employees are loyal to the organization, the organization may return their appreciation in rewards of various forms. The rewards may include compensation for



post-secondary education and training, providing child care facilities, or paying a generous bonus.

An example from Meyer and Allen (1990) explained that parents who stressed to their offspring the importance of remaining loyal to one employer could set the stage for normative commitment. Additionally, an obligation to continue a generational line of employment with one employer could pressure an employee to be more normatively committed to the organization than remaining because they believed in its mission and values. Some nonprofit employees can feel obligation to their employers because they could have once been recipients of their services at one time in their lives.

Various scholars have considered normative commitment to be very similar in meaning to affective commitment (Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001). However, normative commitment places more emphasis on the employee's feelings of obligation to continue to work for the organization. This feeling can be tied to the employee's understanding of the stated mission, goals, and values. In comparison, affective commitment is based on an employee's emotional attachment to a company or organization based on different levels of positive feelings of the employee for the company. These organizational commitments are similar, yet many scholars argue that the subtle differences require separate places on the organizational commitment model (Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001).

Wiener and Vardi (1980) suggested that normative commitment is a feeling of obligation, but added that normative commitment is only natural due to the way we are raised in society. Personal commitments to family and religion shed light on ways in which employees become personally committed to the goals of the organization. Allen & Meyer (1990) agreed that an employee exemplifying normative commitment indicates a



Allen and Meyer (1997) revealed that normative commitment can occur when individuals' behaviors are reflected from the expectations placed upon them by people whose values they respect.

Contrary to normative commitment but in relation to tenure obligation, Grube (1990) did not find that the obligation commitment was particularly related to age, tenure, or career satisfaction. Grube (1990) further contended that individuals who choose to apply for a position with the organization might not always accept employment based on the nature of the job. Dunham, Grube and Castaneda (1994) stated:

Those whose norms indicated that it is inappropriate to leave an organization would be less likely to do so. Given the items used to measure normative commitment (e.g., "I think that people these days move from company to company too often"), it was also possible that overlap between the items used to measure normative commitment and those used to measure intent to leave could produce an observed correlation higher than the actual relationship between the two constructs. (p. 371)

Finegan (2000) contends that normatively committed employees do not always support the organization's values or vision. These employees are more interested in how they will fill their commitment through obedience and obligation to the organization.

Chen and Franceso (2003) note that these obligations may hold true not only for the organization but also for such things as a union or a particular political interest.

Finally, normative commitment is based upon the concept that one has an obligation to make a work-based decision to remain with an organization. Based on the work of Scholl (1981) and Wiener (1982), Meyer & Allen (1991) deduced that normative commitment further develops when an employee (a) has internalized a set of norms concerning appropriate conduct; and/or (b) is the recipient of benefits and experiences a



need to reciprocate. Meyer, Allen and Topolnytsky (1998) argue that normative commitment might be related to employees' recognition of their obligation within the psychological contract (Rousseau & Greller, 1994), which is perceived to be in effect with the organization (Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001).

Summary

The literature review presents an overview of nonprofit organizations, their employees, the importance of the mission, and organizational commitment. There is very little research exploring the relationship between attachment to the mission and organizational commitment. Most studies show the relationship between mission attachment and job satisfaction and/or retention (Kim & Lee, 2003). Brown and Yoshioka (2004) studied how employees' attitudes toward the organization's mission relate to their satisfaction and the extent to which their attitudes toward the mission influence their decision to stay.

Glasrud (2001) contends that most researchers would agree that many organizations would benefit from emphasizing their mission and ways in which it relates to the organization and its employees. Additionally, Brown and Yoshioka (2004) report that "given its significant and fundamental role relatively little is known about how missions are perceived by employees and how those perceptions relate to other organizational attitudes (e.g., satisfaction) and behaviors (e.g., turnover)" (p. 8). The literature can only present the theories and significance of organizational commitment and its effect on employees' intent to remain with the organization, but organizations must become cognizant of what is needed in order to fulfill not only organizational needs but also employees' expectations. If organizations are serious about retaining valued



human capital, they must educate themselves to understand whether employees are attached to the mission and at what level of commitment they work toward mission-centered goals.

Chapter 3 will discuss the methodology of the study, the data collection, and the research design to be used in exploring mission attachment and organizational commitment. The results of the study will be presented in Chapter 4.



CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological research study was to explore mission attachment and organizational commitment among nonprofit employees.

Recruiting and retaining highly performing employees is crucial to any organization. The ability to understand employees and their "psychological contract" with an organization can assist leaders in developing retention strategies to further understand what influences a nonprofit employee to remain with the organization. Ideally, these research findings should better establish a need to understand the commitment relationships that exist between employee and employer.

Chapter 3 will present the research method and appropriate design used for describing organizational commitment and mission attachment among nonprofit employees. The overview discusses: (a) research design; (b) sample/population; (c) data collection; (d) data analysis; (e) validity and reliability; and (f) ethical considerations.

Research Design

A research design resembles a blueprint that aids in fulfilling objectives and answering questions (Cooper and Schindler, 2006). Robson (2002) suggests that a good research design contains the following components. (1) Purpose (What is the study trying to achieve?); (2) Theory (What theory will guide your study?); (3) Research questions (To what questions is the research geared to providing answers?); (4) Methods (What techniques will be used to collect data?); and (5) Sampling strategy (From whom will data be gathered). A more qualitative research method allowed the researcher to focus on perceptions and emotional feelings of the participants, which would assist them in



describing the level of commitment and attachment to the mission. A quantitative research method using a standardized survey would only allow the researcher to gather data that have been reduced to numbers instead of words, which will not allow the meaningful findings that can only be expressed in words.

Qualitative phenomenological research was the most appropriate method for this exploratory study due to the focus it placed on the subjective experiences and emotions of each voluntary participant. Answer to questions such as "What does the mission mean? What type of attachment does the individual have to the mission? What is their commitment level to an organization and why?" are unique, and have emotional or psychological attachment to each individual that can be better answered with verbal responses.

According to Robson (2002) phenomenological research "is an approach which has much to offer in answering certain kinds of research question about subjective experience which may be highly relevant to some real world studies" (p. 196). All of the participants in the study were offered the opportunity to answer questions based on their own personal perceptions and experiences with the organization once they met the inclusion criteria.

Qualitative research has value when exploring more complex and sensitive issues (Robson, 2002). Additionally, qualitative research can be valuable when the topic has little or no research done in the specific area (Creswell, 2002). The qualitative data collected through the interviews allowed the researcher to encapsulate those emotionally driven responses that could not be described in a quantitative study with statistically



defined data (Robson, 2002). The study gave participants a voice, and it allowed data to be collected for future research in this area.

In this exploratory study, the researcher attempted to fill a gap in prior studies where a qualitative methodology approach had not been utilized to describe employees' organizational commitment and attachment to the mission in relationship to their intent to remain with the organization. The findings of this study can assist nonprofit HR professionals and organizational leaders in better understanding how employees are attached to their mission and the level of organizational commitment that may influence their retention and tenure with the organization.

Sample/Population

The nonprofit affiliate of a Southeast U.S.-based organization of approximately 8,000 regular full-time employees was the population for this study. The affiliate nonprofit organization has approximately 96 employees who work in one specific geographical area. The purposes of this affiliate division are to lead campaigns and lobby to influence policies, laws, and regulations that further the overall mission of the organization. The employees within this division do have a dedication to and in-depth knowledge of the mission to articulate aggressively the importance of the mission to local, state, and federal officials to explain ways laws and political decisions can influence the ability to obtain stated mission initiatives.

The sample for this study included management and non-management employees below director level. The inclusion criteria required that the employee work for the affiliate nonprofit organization, be a regular full-time employee, and hold a job title



below the director's level. Employees working less than full-time were not included due to the short contingencies placed on their employment contracts.

Employees below the director's level are those who are leading the campaigns and talking with elected officials in an effort to influence thoughts or votes in areas that can positively affect the organization's mission. In order for congressional members to understand the significance of the mission, this group of employees should be able to demonstrate their attachment and commitment on behalf of internal stakeholders. Bart and Tabone (1998) point out that mission becomes more than what is presented in a statement when those who support it put words into action.

The method of sampling was a purposive sample based on probability and non-probability characteristics, meaning each person solicited had an equal opportunity to be included given the specific inclusion criteria previously stated and his or her voluntary consent to participate. A purposive sampling allowed this particular group of people in the organization to be targeted. This method supported Robson's (2002) suggestion that a sample is a defined collection from the population.

It can be difficult to determine whether a predefined number of observations and interviews are needed for a sample in a qualitative study (Robson, 2002). The sample size should relate, in some proportion, to the size of the population targeted (Cooper & Schindler, 2006; Robson, 2002). Cooper and Schindler explain, "When the size of the sample exceeds five percent of the population, the limits of the population constrain the sample size need" (p. 435). Leedy and Ormrod (2005) support a sample size of five to 15 participants as a sufficient sample for a phenomenological study. The researcher was given a list of employees, only from the subset of the population targeted, with names,



titles, work locations, e-mail addresses, and office telephone numbers. The researcher used this list to solicit the population until 20 participants consented to participate in the study, provided they met the required inclusion criteria.

Data Collection

Written permission was secured from the president of the affiliate nonprofit organization to allow the researcher to conduct this study. Once the study was approved, a roster containing information such as employees' job titles, e-mail addresses, work locations, and telephone numbers was given to the researcher by the human resources business partner who supported the organization.

Data was received from participants by telephone interviews due to the geographical distance of the work location from that of the researcher. Robson (2002) contends that one major advantage to telephone interviewing is the ability to reach participants who are geographically scattered (Robson, 2002). Additionally, travel expenses and varied work schedules of the participations would have made face-to-face interviews difficult and too expensive for the researcher.

Prior to conducting the telephone interviews, a signed informed-consent release form was secured from each participant. To ensure anonymity and preserve confidentiality, an alpha-numeric pseudonym was assigned to each participant. Taking this extra step allowed participants to be identified by a letter and a number, which decreased the chance of any identifiable information that would connect the participant to the study.

The interviews were audio-taped for accuracy and later transcribed and analyzed using an inductive thematic approach to identify recurrent patterns and common themes.



Robson (2002) supported the use of a tape recording to allow the researcher to concentrate on the participants' responses during the interview. This method allowed the researcher to focus on interviewing the participants rather than note taking. In addition, the recording allowed for an accurate permanent record of the conversation. The overall goal was to record accurate data that captured the participants' experiences and emotional responses to semi-structured questions rather than to produce statistical summary capturing results from a quantitative survey.

Each participant was asked semi-structured, open-ended questions adapted from the Organizational Commitment Scale Questionnaire by Allen and Meyer (1990)
(Appendix B) to describe their organizational commitment. Before the study, the researcher acquired a license that authorized the use of the TCM Employee Commitment Survey, which contained rights to Allen and Meyer (1990) Organizational Commitment Scale Questionnaire. Additionally, the researcher acquired permission from Dr. Meyer to adapt the quantitative statements to qualitative open-ended questions. Participants were also asked semi-structured, open-ended questions from the Mission Awareness Questionnaire by Brown and Yoshioka (2003) to describe their attachment and contributions to the mission. The semi-structure allows the researcher to have more autonomy to ask questions out of sequence in order to explore a topic more broadly (Cooper & Schlinder, 2006).

Brown and Yoshioka (2003) created four mission attachment statements to investigate employees' attitudes toward the mission in a youth and recreation services organization. The coefficient alpha reliability estimate was alpha .76. In addition, the Three Component Model by Allen and Meyer (1990) produced coefficient alpha



reliability estimates for the Affective Commitment Scale .87, Continuance Commitment Scale .75, and Normative Commitment Scale .79. The median reliability that was shown exceeds the reliability the median reliability of .70.

Since these two instruments presented quantitative reliability estimates, statements from these instruments were adapted to formulate qualitative semi-structured interview questions for this study. Additionally, Campbell (1996) added that consistency or reliability can be achieved when verified through the examination of collected data items, such as process notes and raw data that establish the trustworthiness of the research. To obtain accurate notes, all data from the participants were audio-recorded to prevent missed information, which may occur when only note-taking is utilized.

To increase the quality of the research, a measurement tool with a record of success in reliability and validity is advisable (Huberman & Miles, 2002). Creswell (2005) proposes that using an instrument that is reliable and meaningful can allow the researcher to draw conclusions from the sample studied. However in qualitative research, "the researcher is the instrument" (Patton, 2002, p. 14). The researcher has over 15 years of experience in conducting a variety of interviews and facilitating focus groups in a number of job-related positions. Interview training through the workplace and other related continuing education classes has allowed the researcher to become competent in conducting interviews and extracting recorded data to find various patterns and trends intended for report compilation.

Data Analysis

The research data from this exploratory study was obtained from telephone interview questions adapted by the researcher from the Organizational Commitment



Scale Questionnaire by Allen and Meyer (1990) (Appendix B) and the Mission Attachment Statements by Brown and Yoshioka (2003) (Appendix C). The questions from the Organizational Commitment Scale came from all three components of the scales: affective, continuance, and normative.

The manual analysis of the transcribed data used an inductive thematic approach to detect similarities of patterns, recurrent core themes, and common terms to categorize the participants' interview responses. Transcription of the individuals' responses was coded and clustered in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet relevant to common expressions, patterns, and themes identified by each participant to allow data to be filtered according to each section. Cooper and Schindler (2006) explained that the thematic approach allows "higher-level abstractions inferred from the text and its context" (p. 449). Analyzing the common terms, patterns, and themes offered a greater awareness of the question under exploration.

Validity and Reliability

Validity and reliability are extremely important in any research study, but they are especially important in a qualitative study. There is great concern among qualitative researchers about reporting accurate data. Much concern has to do with researchers creating or manufacturing anything they have not observed or seen (Huberman & Miles 2002). By audio- recording what the participants said in reference to their feelings and experiences, as distinguished from the researcher injecting any biases, validity can be established.

A phenomenological study can establish descriptive validity, which is what is truthfully stated through participants' interviews (Maxwell, 1992). Audio-taping the



participants' conversations and transcribing their responses ensured accuracy and prevented omission or distortion of valuable data. Information was transcribed verbatim from the words of each recorded participant. Also, the design of the research questions allowed for interpretive validity that relied on the participants' own words and concepts (Maxwell 1992).

Reliability is another concern in a qualitative research study, although it is a term which has been predominantly used in the area of quantitative research. However, qualitative researchers' reliability lies in the area of credibility. According to Bowen (2008), "credibility refers to the confidence one has in the truth of the findings" (p. 215). Additionally, qualitative researchers are mostly concerned with the study of participants' lived experiences that are expressed in words and expressions that raise concerns in reference to the reliability of the data collected. To address these concerns, Labuschagne (2003) reports that the "reliability criterion for qualitative research focuses on identifying and documenting recurrent accurate and consistent (homogenous) or inconsistent (heterogeneous) features as patterns, themes, world views, and any other phenomena under study in similar or different human contexts" (p. 8).

Reliability or credibility can be established by conducting a field study. A field study allowed the researcher to closely examine the interview questions to determine the clarity of the questions and time allotment needed for the proposed interview before it was conducted. Conducting the field study prior to the actual study allowed the researcher to know whether the method of data collection made sense and could lead to answering the research question.



The field study required the participants to be knowledgeable professionals within specialized areas who could determine if the proposed instrument could be used to improve validity. With the consent of the participants, the researcher chose two organizational development managers and one training consultant for the test. All three managers had several years of experience in conducting various types of interviews, training, and tests within their organizations. Two of the employees had master's degrees in organizational development. Neither one of the managers was employed with the affiliate organization or a part of the sample, but they did share the same characteristics as those to be sampled in the study. Additionally, all of their positions fell under the director's level.

A few suggestions were given by the managers and incorporated into the questions composed by the researcher to avoid any confusing or awkward questions during the actual interviews. One manager answered all the questions in 40 minutes, and the others completed the interview in 50 to 55 minutes. The average time taken for the interviews was approximately 48 minutes. All managers agreed that 60 minutes was adequate and reasonable time for others to answer the questions without feeling rushed.

Epoché

Epoché is a process that allows the researcher to set aside all preconceived ideas about what is being experienced and described by the participants. The elimination or purging of these preconceived ideas from the researcher allows the data to be more valid and remove the chance of skewing the results from the study. Moustakas (1994) suggests that researchers make use of the process before analyzing any data. Several epoché methods such as journaling and self-reflections have been used to record a researcher's



thoughts and ideas before or during the study (Moustakas, 1994). To remove any biases, the researcher used an epoché process documenting her self-reflection and preconceptions (Appendix D) before the start of the study.

Ethical Considerations

One major ethical concern in any study is the involvement of human subjects (Miles & Huberman 1994). Participants were selected on a voluntary basis for this study. Voluntary participants in the research study were properly informed about the intent of the study and their guarantee of anonymity and confidentiality. Each participant who volunteered and met the inclusion criteria was asked to sign an informed consent form prior to the interview.

To maintain anonymity, an alpha-numeric pseudonym was assigned to each participant. To preserve confidentiality, the researcher asked each participant to choose an area where he or she felt comfortable to talk freely. Taking this step allowed the participants to gain more of a sense of security.

All data or information stored on the researcher's home computer hard drive has been protected by a password accessible only to the researcher. A backup copy stored on a USB drive, along with all audio recordings, transcripts, and informed consent documents pertaining to this study, remain with the researcher safely secured in a home safe and will be destroyed after seven years.

Summary

The goal of this exploratory qualitative phenomenological study was to obtain data to describe nonprofit employees' organizational commitment and mission attachment in relationship to their intent to remain with the organization. Data collected



can allow nonprofit leaders and human resource professionals a better understanding of psychological factors regarding employees' attachment to the mission and their commitment to the organization. Employees who have a clear attachment to the mission are better equipped to articulate the specific needs of the organization to political lobbyists who can make a difference in laws for the betterment of the population served.

Through the development of questions adapted from the Organizational

Commitment Scale Instrument from Meyer and Allen (1990) and the Mission Attachment

Statements from Brown and Yoshioka (2003), analysis of the qualitative data collected

described employees' attachment and desired commitment that led to their desire to

remain with the organization. The results from this data attempted to fill a gap in the

literature, which has not used the Organizational Commitment Scale and the Mission

Attachment Statements in a qualitative study to explore mission attachment and

organizational commitment.

Chapter 4 describes the analysis of the data. Chapter 5 offers a summary and discussion of the findings of the study and recommendations for future research.



CHAPTER 4. RESULTS

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological research study was to explore mission attachment and organizational commitment among nonprofit employees.

Recruiting and retaining highly performing employees is crucial to any organization. The ability to understand employees and their "psychological contract" with an organization can assist leaders in developing retention strategies to further understand what influences a nonprofit employee to remain with the organization. Ideally, these research findings will better establish a need to understand the commitment relationships that exist between employee and employer.

In an effort to thoroughly explore mission attachment and organizational commitment among nonprofit employees, this study utilized the work of Allen and Meyer's (1990) Organizational Commitment Scale, because of its importance in understanding the levels of organizational commitment. Data collection from studies using Allen and Meyer's (1990) Organizational Commitment Scales was originally derived by using a quantitative seven-point Likert scale instrument. However, qualitative data collection was gathered for this study from open-ended semi-structured interview questions adapted from the statements used in the Affective, Continuance, and Normative Commitment Scales. Utilizing an interview approach allowed participants the opportunity to provide verbal responses which can convey more true to life emotions and experiences.

This chapter contains the descriptive data, the data analysis, the results of the qualitative data analysis including the overarching themes which addresses the research



question associated with the study, and a summary of the chapter. The research question associated with this study was as follows:

How do employees describe their commitment to their organization and attachment to the mission in relationship to their intent to stay?

Descriptive Data

This section of the chapter provides the descriptive data for the study. A total of 20 management and non-management employees below director level were included in this study, and were interviewed by the researcher. However, prior to conducting the telephone interviews, a signed informed-consent release form was secured from each participant. To ensure anonymity and preserve confidentiality, an alpha-numeric pseudonym was assigned to each participant. Taking this extra step allowed participants to be identified only by a letter number and decreased the chance of any identifiable information.

The demographic composition of the research sample is provided in Table 1. The results indicate that the sample was primarily female (75%), and the years of experience ranged from 1 month to more than 11 years, with (95%) of the participants having 10 years of service or less. The results also indicate that the type of positions represented by the participants in this study was diverse. Participants were least likely to be income development managers (10%) and mostly likely to be grassroots specialists, specialists, or assistants (20%).



Table 1

Demographic Description of the Research Sample

Source	Frequency	Percent
Gender		
Female	15	75%
Male	5	25%
Service years		
1 month - 5 years	10	50%
6 years - 10 years	9	45%
11 years or more	1	5%
Positions		
Grassroots specialists	4	20%
Specialists	4	20%
Income development manager	2	10%
Relations managers	3	15%
Assistants	4	20%
Specialty manager	3	15%

Data Analysis Procedures

The research data from this exploratory study were obtained from telephone interview questions adapted by the researcher from the Organizational Commitment Scale Questionnaire by Allen and Meyer (1990) (Appendix B) and the Mission Attachment Statements by Brown and Yoshioka (2003) (Appendix C). The questions



from the Organizational Commitment Scale came from all three components of the scales: affective, continuance, and normative.

The manual analysis of the transcribed data was conducted by an inductive thematic approach to detect similarities of patterns, recurrent core themes, and common terms to categorize the participants' interview responses. Transcription of the individuals' responses were coded and clustered relevant to common expressions, patterns, and themes identified by each participant in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet where the data were filtered according to each section. Cooper and Schindler (2006) explained that the thematic approach allows "higher-level abstractions inferred from the text and its context" (p. 449). Analyzing the common terms, patterns, and themes offered a greater awareness of the question under exploration.

Creswell (2009) outlines six steps that are involved in the qualitative data analysis process, which begin with the transcription of the data, and include the coding process and the generation of themes. The first step involves the organization and preparation of the data for analysis. For example, the transcription of the data into a Microsoft Word document helped to organize and prepare the data for analysis.

The second step consisted of reviewing all of the responses and getting a general sense of the data, where special attention was paid to the overall meaning and the tone of the responses, the credibility, and the depth of the information. In this process, key words and phrases were identified and typed into the document in red font next to the participants' response.

The third step involved the generation of a coding scheme, which was created based on the participants' responses. For example, Creswell (2009) explains that coding



is the process of organizing the material into chunks or segments of text before bringing meaning to information. During this coding process, similar responses were given a qualitative explanatory code, which created the initial categories.

The next step consisted of using the coding process to develop a description of the context, which resulted in the assembly of the themes or categories. According to Creswell (2009), "description involves a detailed rendering of information about people, places, or events in a setting." Once descriptions were assigned, the coding results were evaluated in an effort to create a practical list of themes. The identified themes represented the major findings for this research study. The themes were then weighted by totaling the number of responses aligned to each theme using Microsoft Excel, and the results were provided in a table for a descriptive summary

The fifth step consisted of determining how the descriptions of the themes would be represented in narrative form. According to Creswell (2009), the most popular approach consists of providing narrative passages in order to convey the general findings that emerged from the data analyses. The findings may include a discussion of events in chronological order, a detailed discussion of several themes, or a discussion of the interrelationships between themes. For the purposes of this study, the researcher provided a detailed discussion of the themes and identified potential inter-relationships.

The final stage consisted of providing an interpretation of the data, where the data analysis findings were given meaning. Creswell (2009) explains that the "interpretation in qualitative research can take many forms". Since the study focused on employees' commitments to their organization and attachment to the mission, themes relating to those concepts served as the unit of analysis when interpreting the data.



Findings

This section of the chapter provides the data analysis results. Each interview question was analyzed individually, the themes and supporting narratives were provided for each interview question, and then the overall interview data analysis results were integrated in order to address the research question associated with this study.

The first interview question asked "Why did you pursue job opportunities with this nonprofit organization?" The coded responses from the interviews are presented in Table 2. The results indicate that the main response category was that the participant believes in the mission of the organization. Other responses that repeated themselves include the fact that the job was a good opportunity, the participant wanted to make a difference, the participant was passionate about the work, a personal tragedy was the inspiration, such as a family member dying from cancer, and the participant started out as a temporary employee or an intern first.

As indicated in Table 2, there were several reasons for pursuing the job. One response that incorporates a combination of these reasons is provided in the quote below:

I interned with this organization during college and was very interested in pursuing a full-time job with them after graduation. The organization has a mission that I am personally passionate about. I studied public relations in college and the media team here provided me opportunities to work on an issue that I am passionate about. I already knew the team members and I knew I worked well with them I was also interested in working for a nonprofit because I thought I would have more of a direct impact on the people I was trying to help.

Another employee indicated that her motivating factor was the loss of her brother due to cancer. She said "That made a large impact on me, and I wanted to do everything I could to find a cure for cancer in my lifetime."



Table 2

Coded Responses for Interview Question One

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Belief in mission	6	30%
Good opportunity	4	20%
Want to make a difference	4	20%
Passionate about the work	3	15%
Personal tragedy (e.g. family member with cancer)	3	15%
Started out as a temp or an intern	3	15%
Right fit	1	5%
Right time	1	5%
Commute is short	1	5%
Non-profit is appealing	1	5%
More flexible work conditions	1	5%
Needed a new job	1	5%
Background in non-profit	1	5%
Followed a former administrator	1	5%
Was referred by a former co-worker	1	5%
Great job portfolio	1	5%
Interested in Public Health implementation	1	5%
Opportunity for growth	1	5%
Non-profit has a direct impact	1	5%
Was downsized at previous company	1	5%



From this list of codes, four major themes emerged, which are presented in Table 3. The first theme indicates that some participants had an intrinsic motivation such as a passion for their field, or a personal drive to make a difference. In some cases, the personal drive was a consequence of a personal tragedy, such as a death in the family due to cancer. The second theme represents situational factors that were unrelated to the job itself, such as needing a new job, following a former administrator, or having been downsized at a previous company. The third theme represents factors such as participants' prior positive experiences with the organization or positive aspects or expectations about the job itself, such as the work conditions being more flexible, the quality of the job portfolio, or the length of the commute. The final theme indicates that 30% of the participants pursued the position in the organization specifically due to the mission of the organization.

Table 3

Themes for Interview Question One

Themes	Frequency	Percent
Intrinsic motivations	11	55%
Situational factors unrelated to the job itself	11	55%
Positive experiences or aspects of the job itself	10	50%
Belief in mission	6	30%

The second interview question asked "What is your understanding of the mission of this nonprofit organization?" The coded responses in Table 4 indicate that when asked about the mission of their organization, participants were most likely to mention



advocacy, followed by saving lives, curing cancer, and providing comprehensive services to cancer patients. It is important to note that many of the participants mentioned more than one factor. Also, some of these coded responses were inter-related. For example, curing cancer saves lives, and providing comprehensive services improves lives.

Table 4

Coded Responses for Interview Question Two

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Advocacy	9	45%
Save lives	8	40%
Cure cancer	5	25%
Provide comprehensive services	4	20%
Improve lives	3	15%
Make cancer research a top national priority	2	10%
Educate	2	10%
Prevent cancer	2	10%
Cancer research	2	10%
Treat cancer	1	5%
Access to affordable care	1	5%
Promote awareness	1	5%
Early diagnosis	1	5%

Based on the inter-relationships of the coded responses, three major themes emerged, and they are listed in Table 5. The results in Table 5 indicate that 80% of the participants provided a response consistent with the mission of saving lives. In addition,



many of them mentioned factors related to advocacy, and improving lives as being part of the mission of their organization. Furthermore, it is clear that all three of these themes are related because advocacy helps to improve and save lives. Therefore the responses were highly consistent for this interview question. For example, one of the participants stated the following:

As I understand it, this organization would love to cure cancer, but understands the challenges of a goal that big. In the meantime, they want to make the lives of cancer patients better in medicine, research, patient rights, insurance, and quality of life.

Table 5

Themes for Interview Question Two

T	nemes	Frequency	Percent
Saving lives		16	80%
Advocacy		13	65%
Improving lives		7	35%

Interview question three asked "From your personal experience, how do you feel that your work contributes to carrying out the mission of this nonprofit organization?"

The participants provided more detailed responses to this particular question. Several quotes are provided in order to represent the depth of the responses and to provide a context from which the themes emerged.

The coded responses are provided in Table 6. The results indicate that the most common response pertained directly to advocacy. Some participants specifically mentioned the word advocacy while others provided examples of advocacy. For example, one participant said "It certainly contributes to carrying out the mission because



my job is to work with the state and local campaigns. We need to ensure that every state becomes smoke-free so that we can expedite the process of eradicating cancer. "

Another participant provided a detailed account of how her advocacy work contributes to carrying out the mission of the organization. Her explanation is provided below:

Since I am a member of the media team, I am responsible for helping to deliver our message to external audiences. My team is the direct link between the work that is being done in our office to the audience we want to hear our messages. I personally work on social media and advertising efforts at this organization. By placing ads and being vocal on social networks, I am helping to create buzz around the issue of cancer advocacy and I am connecting with lawmakers, reporters and volunteers alike.

An example from a participant who indicated that her work contributes to carrying out the mission of the organization by advancing the mission and directing patients to the proper services, is provided below:

I manage those who work directly with potential patients as they start the relationship with this organization. It is my department's job to discuss the mission of the organization during the initial meetings with the patients. Afterwards I make sure that the patients were directed to the right department for services. I am the initial or first line of assistance for those who seek help from the organization.

There were two participants who indicated that their work supports the mission given that they provide support to those who work directly with the patients. For example, one of the participants explained the following:

My duties as an executive assistant are important to me and my role for the mission of the organization. It makes me feel that the paper work I manage, the meetings scheduled, the appointments arranged, the travel that is booked and other things all contributes to the staff accomplishing important goals and valuable decision-making at meetings. If the meetings to collaborate are not scheduled, paper work not correct, travel not booked, it becomes harder to fulfill the critical assignments to help the lives of people like this organization is designed to do.



Finally, it is interesting to note that the one participant who indicated that her personal work has had no great impact with regard to carrying out the mission of the organization was one of the participants who provided a situational reason for pursuing the job; she was referred by a former co-worker. Therefore her pursuit of the job was not mission or cause driven.

Table 6

Coded Responses for Interview Question Three

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Provide advocacy	6	30%
Grassroots organizer	2	10%
Advance mission	2	10%
Raise money for services	2	10%
Support staff who help patients	2	10%
Direct patients to proper services	1	5%
Train staff who help patients	1	5%
Contributes indirectly	1	5%
Greatest impact – prevention	1	5%
Handle financial matters	1	5%
No great impact	1	5%
Data analysis to be data informed	1	5%

The themes that emerged from these coded response are featured in Table 7. The results indicate that the coded responses resulted in three themes, which include advocacy-related work, administrative work, and fund raising activities.



Table 7

Themes for Interview Question Three

Themes	Frequency	Percent
Advocacy (campaigning, promoting mission)	9	45%
Administrative work (train, support, manage)	3	15%
Fund raising	2	10%

The next interview question asked "From your experience, how would you describe your level of contentment in working for this nonprofit organization because you personally believe in its mission and values?" The coded responses outlined in Table 8 indicate that there were really two distinct themes that emerged, which support the fact that participants are content or very content working at the organization and their contentment is primarily driven by the mission of the organization. In fact, 90% of the participants provided responses showing that they are content or very content, and 70% of the participants specifically mentioned the mission of the organization as a contributing factor.

An example from one of the participants, which pertains to how the mission of the organization is a contributing factor to employee contentment, is provided below:

I enjoy the work that I do for the organization. My understanding of the disease and how it affects not just the patient but the family has opened up my world. When I first started with the organization, I had no first-hand experience with any cancer patients. I can now say I have interacted with Children at various camps, help a patient chose a donated wig, and volunteered and walked in several events. I fully believe in the mission of this organization and what it stands for.



Similarly, another participant stated "I am totally content with working here. I love the mission and believe in what we do here. I could not see myself working for another organization."

The results in Table 8 also indicate that there were several of additional reasons why participants were content with their job at the organization. For example, one participant explained "I am content because not only have I grown as a person since working here, but I have grown as a professional. The mission of this organization helps you grow up pretty quickly." Another participant stated "I am definitely content. This organization has allowed me so much flexibility to do my job, so I love it."

One of the participants provided a detailed explanation as to why she is content.

Her explanation is presented below:

Words are not enough to explain the honor it is to be a part of such a vital organization that helps save lives every day, support the families and fight for a cure so others may not suffer from such a terrible disease. Every law that is changed because of what our organization contributes by speaking on behalf of the people who suffer from this disease is invaluable to measure.

Finally, two participants had dissenting responses given that they said that they were not content with their job at the organization. For example, one of the participants explained "I do not feel content at all. I have seen how the organization takes care of certain communities and people outside of the organization, but do a poor job of attracting and retaining good employees." This participant was the same person who stated that she has made "no great impact" while working at the organization.



Table 8

Coded Responses for Interview Question Four

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Content or very content	18	90%
Contentment driven by mission	14	70%
Organization put trust in participant	1	5%
Content with personal performance	1	5%
Grown personally and professionally	1	5%
Enjoy the work	1	5%
Can results of one's own work	1	5%
Less content than expected due to organizational policies	1	5%
Honored to be part of the organization	1	5%
Not content - poor recruitment & retention of good people	1	5%
Have a lot of flexibility to do the job	1	5%
Love everything about the organization	1	5%

The three themes that emerged from the coded responses are featured in Table 9. The results indicate that employee contentment was a result of being driven by the organizational mission, and or by personal experiences while working at the organization, such as seeing the results of one's own work, satisfaction with personal performance, and personal and professional growth. However, there were two participants who were not content, and therefore the third theme pertained to a lack of contentment with one's job at the organization.



Table 9

Themes for Interview Question Four

Themes	Frequency	Percent
Contentment driven by mission	14	70%
Contentment driven by personal experiences on the job	8	40%
Not content	2	10%

The fifth interview question asked "From your experience, how would you describe your level of emotional attachment to this nonprofit organization?" The coded responses presented in Table 10 indicate that 70% of the participants provided a response directly stating or suggesting that they are emotionally attached to the organization. However, four participants specifically stated that they were not personally or emotionally attached to the organization. Two of the three participants who said that they enjoyed working at the organization, did not indicate whether or not they were emotionally attached, and therefore those two participants make up the remaining of the participants who did not fall into the emotionally attached or not emotionally attached category.

Reasons that were given as to why participants were emotionally attached include personally experiencing the impact of cancer, being attached to the staff and volunteers, being attached to the nature of the work, and being attached to the mission or cause associated with the organization. An example from one of the participants who stated that she was very emotionally attached is provided below:

I would say that I am very emotionally attached. I have lost family and friends to cancer, so I am very attached to this organization and the



research that is done here to combat this awful disease. As I stated before, I continue to volunteer in activities to further support the mission.

Another participant explained "My emotional level is very strong because not only do I witness the level of commitment of co-workers, but I also hear stories of survival and triumph."

Table 10

Coded Responses for Interview Question Five

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Emotionally attached/passionate	14	70%
Not personally/emotionally attached	4	20%
Attached due to personal impact of cancer	3	15%
Enjoy working at the organization	3	15%
Attached to the staff and volunteers	3	15%
Attached to the nature of the work	3	15%
Attached to the cause/mission	2	10%
Attached given how hard they fight to advocate	1	5%
Chose to be emotionally detached	1	5%
Somewhat emotionally attached	1	5%
Not emotionally attached due to supervisory issues	1	5%
Attachment level weakened due to new direct manager	1	5%

Of greater interest were the reasons that participants gave for not being emotionally attached. For example, one of the participants indicated that she was intentionally trying to detach herself emotionally from the organization. Her explanation was as follows:



I am not very attached to this organization emotionally. When I think about it, I liken my work experience to dating. I had a bad relationship with a different organization before I started working here and that relationship is keeping me from really buying in fully to my new relationship – although I have been here for several years. I am just not interested in investing a lot of emotion into this job right now.

One of the participants was not emotionally attached due to management-related issues, and another participant said that her attachment had been weakened due to management issues. For example, the first participants stated "I am a new employee with the organization. I would have to say due to supervisory issues, my emotional attachment is very low." The second participant provided the following explanation:

My emotional attachment to the organization was greater when my work role was more directly aligned with the mission and my manager was more emotionally attached to the people on the team. I believe my emotional attachment has changed as my direct manager changed. The current management style is drastically different from what I initially encountered when entering the organization.

Finally, one of the participants indicated that she was only somewhat emotionally attached, given her age and her personal-family life. Her explanation is provided below:

I am less emotionally attached to this job than I have been to jobs in my past. This is more a function of age, maturity and life circumstances than anything directly related to the job. At 22 years old, my job was my life and I was largely defined by my work and my co-workers were a significant portion of my social life. Now at 37, I am married with a child and my work has taken a smaller role in myself definition. It helps that this is a larger organization that allows for more personal privacy of its employees. I have found that smaller organizations tend to be rather insular with employees sharing a great deal of personal information with co-workers. I am no longer comfortable with that sort of thing and refrain from sharing my details of my home life. This is perfectly acceptable behavior here, which I prefer. That level of detachment means I could separate from the organization without tremendous emotional withdrawal, although I would continue to have feelings of affection for the organization and its employees.



The themes that emerged from the coded responses are outlined in Table 11. The results indicate that that the overarching theme was to be emotionally attached due to the nature of the work, such as the mission, the cause or the job itself. Other themes include being emotionally attached due to the people at the organization, being emotionally attached based on past experiences with cancer (self, family or friends), and not being emotionally attached due to organizational reasons. Although only two participants provided a response supporting this fourth theme when responding to interview question five, the third participant provided a response to an earlier question that confirms her lack of satisfaction with the organization. Finally, although only one person indicated that she was only somewhat emotionally attached due to her family life and maturity, this response was categorized as a theme because it reflects a personal circumstance that tends to be relatively common with married women with children.

Table 11

Themes for Interview Question Five

Themes	Frequency	Percent
Emotionally attached due to nature of work/mission	9	45%
Emotionally attached due to the people	3	15%
Emotionally attached due to personal experience with cancer	3	15%
Not emotionally attached due to organizational reasons	3	15%
Somewhat emotionally attached due to family life	1	5%

The sixth interview question asked "From your personal experience and perception of this nonprofit organization, to what extent would you be happy spending



the rest of your career here?" The coded responses in Table 12 indicate that the most common response was to want to stay at the organization followed equally by wanting to retire at the organization and not being sure. Participants that were not sure indicated that they were still young and/or whether or not they stay at the organization depends on the opportunities that present themselves. Some participants said they probably won't stay or they definitely will not stay unless changes are made, such as a position change or a cultural change within the organization.

One of the participants provided a very detailed and articulate account of how her personal life has interacted with her work life at the organization resulting in her staying at the organization longer than she would have otherwise stayed. She also indicated that her current life situation requires an adjustment to her work life in order for her to stay at the organization. Her detailed response is provided below:

This is interesting timing for me to answer this question. I have working here for over 6 years. I was not planning on this being the last job of my career when I came on-board, and I have actually stayed longer than is probably wise from a career perspective since there is very little room for advancement within the organization. There have been points that would have been natural times to transition out of the organization, but I remained here for a number of reasons. At one point I was pregnant and knew that the maternity leave and family support policies here would be beneficial to me. At another time I was looking elsewhere, but I was within months of vesting employer paid pension, and my other investments were taking a hit due to market fluctuations, and I didn't feel like I could walk away from that benefit. I am at another good transition point because my husband has taken a new job that allows us great financial flexibility. I would probably be happy to stay with the organization if my position could be adjusted to part-time to allow me more time with my son and husband, and I am discussing this option before I present a plan to my supervisor. If there is no way to reduce my hours, this organization is no longer the right option for me and my family, and I will consider working elsewhere. In short, I will only work a job if that job is good for my family. If this job ceases to be good for my family, I will leave. My family trumps career and mission.



In order to provide some context for the reasons why participants said that they wanted to stay at their current organization for the remainder of their careers, a couple of direct quotes are provided. An example from one of the participants who indicated that she would like to stay at the organization is as follows:

After 5 years of working for this organization, I left to pursue a career in the private sector making more money. The joy that I had working for the organization was not at the private sector. After only 1 year, I returned back to this organization taking a pay cut because I felt that my duties and job working for the organization would be better used and my joy was back in what I was doing.

Similarly, another participant provided the following highly favorable response:

I am very, very happy this is the career I have been working towards in all my previous jobs. My personal experiences with other nonprofit organizations were minor compared to the life saving support of this organization. My perception is what we do really matters to everyone.

Table 12

Coded Responses for Interview Question Six

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Would like to stay at the organization	6	30%
Would love to retire at the organization	4	20%
Not sure	4	20%
Depends on opportunities	2	10%
Won't stay unless culture changes drastically	2	10%
Probably won't stay, still young	1	5%
Probably stay, depends who the direct boss is	1	5%
Would stay if could change current position	1	5%
Depends on flexibility; needs to reduce hours	1	5%



Table 13 provides the overall themes that resulted from the coded responses. The results indicate that 50% of the participants said that they want to stay at their current organization for the rest of their career. Forty percent of the participants said that whether or not they stay at the current organization depends on situational factors within the organization such as their job position, their direct boss, and opportunities within the company. Two participants indicated that it is unlikely they will remain at their current organization for the remainder of their career.

Table 13

Themes for Interview Question Six

Themes	Frequency	Percent
Would like to spend rest of career at current organization	10	50%
Depends on situational factors within the organization	8	40%
Probably won't stay/unlikely	2	10%

The next interview question asked participants to "Describe any costs impact for you if you decided to leave this nonprofit organization right now." The coded responses outlined in Table 14 indicate that the most common response was to suffer a financial hit or loss with other participants indicating that it would result in financial devastation. Participants were also somewhat likely to specifically mention the loss of benefits. Interestingly, three of the participants stated that there would be no financial cost impact because they would only leave their current position if they were offered much more



money somewhere else. For example, one participant responded in the following manner:

I am not sure if I would answer this right, but if I did leave here, it would be only because I found another opportunity that would pay much, much more than what I make and would match the benefits and opportunities. I wouldn't think there would be any cost impact.

In addition, three participants indicated that there would be an emotional or personal satisfaction cost. For example, one of the participants stated "There would be the emotional cots because I would be leaving such a great group of people and such a powerful mission. The financial costs would be secondary for me."

There were also two participants who mentioned that they would be able to sustain themselves financially on a short-term basis. For example, one of these participants indicated the following:

I don't plan on leaving anytime soon. I am so loyal to my job that I would take a pay cut before I decide to leave. Financially I believe I would survive without work for about three months but I am good at finding a job when I need one.

In addition to financial and emotional costs, one of the participants indicated that a cost impact would be a tax on her time due to having to find a new job. For example, this participant explained "The cost impact is that it is challenging and time consuming to look for employment and another place to invest my time and energy professionally."

Finally, there was one completely unique response, which indicated that the only cost impact would be to the company itself. This participant explained "The only cost impact would be to the company because they would have to recruit to backfill my position, and in that time they may not be raising all the funds I currently raise in my role."



Table 14

Coded Responses for Interview Question Seven

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Financial hit or loss	7	35%
Financial devastation	4	20%
Would lose some or all benefits	4	20%
Would only leave if making much more money	3	15%
Personal or emotional cost	3	15%
Would survive financially short-term	2	10%
The only cost would be to the company	1	5%
Depends on job market and cost of living	1	5%
Cost of time to find a new job	1	5%

The themes outlined in Table 15 indicate that the overarching theme was a financial impact due to a loss of salary, a loss of benefits, and/or a loss of retirement savings. However, an emotional or personal cost impact was cited by a smaller percentage with even less participants stating that there would be no impact to them (e.g., they would be making more money).

Table 15

Themes for Interview Question Seven

Themes	Frequency	Percent
Financial impact (salary, benefits, retirement plan)	17	85%
Emotional/personal impact	4	20%
Probably no impact – probably making more money	3	15%



The next interview question asked "What impact does the scarcity of available job options have on your decision whether or not to leave this organization?" Table 16 provides a list of the coded responses. The results indicate that participants were most likely to say that the scarcity of available job options have no effect on their decision to stay at their current organization because they have no intent to leave. For example, one of the participants said "It really does not have a bearing because I want to be here." Similarly, another participant explained "I do not feel this would be applicable to me because I really love my job and the wonderful people I work with and the organization's mission."

On the other hand, four participants stated that the job market has a significant effect on their decision to stay; although one participant said that it no longer has as much of an effect given that her husband now has a more financially secure position. For example, one of the participants explained "It is hard out there right now, so it definitely will play a part in me staying put for right now. I am not sure what I would do when more job opportunities become available."

Three participants said that it has no effect on their decision to stay at their current organization because they believe that they would be able to get another job, although the job might have to be in the private sector. An example from one of the participants is provided below.

I do not feel that if I had to leave this organization that I would be out of work for very long. The job market is picking up not just in the private sector, but in other nonprofits, and my skills could be used in both.



Table 16
Coded Responses for Interview Question Eight

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Has no effect - I want to stay at this organization	11	55%
Has a significant effect on decision to stay	4	20%
Has no effect - I can get another job	3	15%
Incites some fear about losing current job	2	10%
Has a small effect on decision to stay	1	5%
There are minimal options in the nonprofit sector	1	5%

Based on the coded responses, two themes emerged, which are presented in Table 17. The predominant theme was that the scarcity of job options available has no effect on the participants' decision whether or not to leave the organization because they either want to stay where they are or they believe that they can get another job. The second theme was that the job market does have a significant effect on their decision to stay in their current organization.

Table 17

Themes for Interview Question Eight

Themes	Frequency	Percent
Has no effect on my decision to stay	14	70%
Has a significant effect on my decision to stay	4	20%

The ninth interview question asked participants to "Describe your desire and/or thoughts on continuing to work for this nonprofit organization and supporting its mission



for the next five years." The coded responses in Table 18 indicate that 65% of the participants definitely want to stay for at least another five years, and several participants indicated a desire to advance within the organization. Two participants stated that the probability of them staying another five years depends on whether or not they have opportunities for advancement. For example, one of the participants provided the following response:

Development and opportunities for growth are very important to me as I am focused on growing in my career and applying my talents where they will be best utilized. It would bring me great joy to continue with the organization; however my current manager does not focus on development. I would be more likely to continue with the organization over the next five years if management was more committed to development mapping and role expansion.

Some of the reasons participants gave for wanting to stay include wanting to retire at the current organization, wanting to see all of the progress "play out", there is more work to do, and they have a strong desire to achieve the mission of the organization.

However, some participants were unsure about staying. For example, one of the participants said "I have a great ardent desire to be allowed to focus on the mission especially for populations that are not as currently involved in this effort. I am not sure about being here for the next five years."

There were also a few participants who said that they probably won't stay another five years, or that they will definitely not stay. The participant who said that he will not stay provided the following explanation:

I am almost certain that I will not be with this organization for five more years. I have been in the same position for over six years already, and I am mentally fatigued and bored. In addition, there are family concerns to address. While I support the mission, I feel that I have done a good part in



promoting it already, and do not feel obliged to stay here if it's not in the best interests of my family.

Table 18

Coded Responses for Interview Question Nine

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Wants and plans to stay for another 5 years	13	65%
Wants to advance in the organization	5	25%
Wants to retire at the organization	4	20%
There is more work to do	2	10%
Probably won't stay	2	10%
Depends on advancement opportunities	2	10%
Strong desire to stay and achieve mission	2	10%
Wants to see things all of the work come to fruition	1	5%
Wants to support the mission - if left, would volunteer	1	5%
Will stay if direct line of reporting stays the same	1	5%
Not sure about staying	1	5%
Will not stay	1	5%

The themes that emerged based on these coded responses are featured in Table 19.

The results indicate that the predominant theme was that participants plan to stay for at least another five years, followed by not being sure. However, there were three participants who said that they do not plan to stay another five years.



Table 19

Themes for Interview Question Nine

Themes	Frequency	Percent
Plans to stay another 5 years	13	65%
Not sure about staying another 5 years	4	20%
Staying another 5 years is unlikely	3	15%

The last interview question asked participants to "Describe your thoughts on loyalty to this organization, and do you feel a sense of moral obligation to remain?" The coded responses in Table 20 indicate that the participants were most likely to say that they are loyal to the organization, but they are not morally obligated to stay at the organization.

Table 20

Coded Responses for Interview Question Ten

Coded responses	Frequency	Percent
Employee is loyal to the organization	11	55%
Not morally obligated to stay at the organization	10	50%
Has a moral obligation due to the impact of cancer	3	15%
Moral obligation to the mission	3	15%
Not loyal to the organization	2	10%
Employee will continue to play a major role	1	5%
Longer tenure results in stronger commitment	1	5%
Obligated to God who helps to support mission	1	5%
Sense of loyalty and obligation have dwindled	1	5%

There were three people who did feel a moral obligation to stay at the organization. These participants were likely to say that the impact of cancer is so great and there is a need and moral obligation to help people. For example, one of the participants provided the following explanation:

The work we do here is important. I am very loyal to my job and the organization. I do have a sense of moral obligation due to the impact the disease had on my family. I would like to support and find a cure for this disease.

Three of the participants indicated that they have a moral obligation to the mission itself. For example, one of the participants provided the following response:

I believe that there are those who are loyal to this organization. I believe that this organization is making a difference in the lives of many people who are suffering from cancer. However, I don't feel an obligation to stay. I do feel a moral obligation to support the mission.

There were two participants whose responses suggest that they were not loyal to the organization or morally obligated to remain in their position at the organization. One of the participants said the following:

I don't feel a moral obligation to continue my work here. At some level, I actually feel the opposite, that perhaps the organization might be better served by vacating my position so that someone with greater passion and commitment could come in and inject new life into the organization. Whether I work here or not, the organization will thrive. My role is not crucial.

The other participant explained "I do not feel any loyal obligations to this organization. There are very few advancements available to anyone. That said, I also do not feel a moral obligation to remain." Therefore a lack of advancement opportunities appears to have made this particular employee bitter towards the organization.



The emergent themes outlined in Table 21 indicate that the majority of the participants have a sense of loyalty to the organization and/or the mission itself, but many of them do not feel morally obligated to stay at their current organization. Other less predominant themes indicate that there are some who do feel morally obligated to stay, and a few who are not loyal to the organization.

Table 21

Themes for Interview Question Ten

Themes	Frequency	Percent
Loyal to the organization and/or mission	13	65%
Not morally obligated to stay at the organization	10	50%
Morally obligated to stay	3	15%
Not loyal to the organization	2	10%

Key Overarching Themes

Throughout this study, interview questions pertaining to organizational commitment and mission attachment provided many common themes. However, three dominate themes were identified in varying degrees in the study. Table 22 provides the top three themes that emerged throughout the study based on the participants' responses. The results in Table 22 indicate that the most common theme related to the mission driven nature of the participants. The second most common theme pertained to the outcomes of the work performed, which included saving lives and improving quality of life. The third most common theme pertained to advocacy, which was one of the specific ways in which the participants in this study were able to save and improve lives.



Table 22

Overarching Themes

Overarching themes	Number of references throughout study
Mission driven	42
Save and improve lives	23
Advocacy	22

Mission Driven

The number one theme was the presence of the participants' reasons for joining the organization. The majority of the participants joined the organization and has remained at the organization due to the mission. For example, one of the participants stated:

I previously worked for the organization in another state and had to leave because there wasn't a position to transfer into where I relocated. I worked for another nonprofit for four months before applying, interviewing and accepting this position that I currently have, and I am very excited to be back. I definitely personally believe in its mission and values.

Another participant who returned to the organization stated:

After 5 years of working for this organization, I left to pursue a career in the private sector making more money. The joy that I had working for the organization was not at the private sector. After only 1 year, I returned back to this organization taking a pay cut because I felt that my duties and job working for the organization would be better used and my joy was back in what I was doing.

Even though these participants left the organization, they continued to look for opportunities so that they could return because they believed in the mission and values.

Their belief in the mission may have come from personal past experiences with cancer and/or the participants' sense of personal responsibility to help other people. However, it



is important to note that participants were not likely to feel that they had a personal or moral obligation to remain at the organization even if they said that they were driven by the mission.

Although the mission of the organization was a major driving factor in the recruitment and retention of the employees represented in this study, it is important to note that the mission was not the only factor, and was not a factor at all for some participants. For example, other reasons for joining the organization included a referral from a coworker or the simple fact that the opportunity for employment was made available. Some of the additional reasons for staying at the organization included the personal relationships that employees had with one another, financial demands, and/or due to the flexibility of the company and one's ability to balance work and family.

One of the contingencies of remaining at the organization for several of the participants pertained to organizational factors. For example, two of the participants said that whether or not they stayed at the organization depended on whether or not there was an opportunity for advancement. Therefore advancement within the organization was an important factor for several of the participants. In addition, six of the participants said that whether or not they stay depends on one or more of the following: (1) who their boss is, (2) the extent to which drastic cultural changes are made, (3) the position that they hold within the organization, and (4) the flexibility of the job.

While the mission of the organization was the most common reason that participants gave for joining and remaining at the organization, it was not the only reason. Furthermore, participants were more likely to say that the mission was their reason for joining the organization than they were for saying that it was the reason that they



remained at the organization. These finding imply that some participants may be attached to or driven by the mission itself and not necessarily the organization. Therefore, the participants may believe that they can serve the mission of the organization in other ways, either through volunteer work or by working at another organization that may be a better fit for their personal needs. Another possible implication is that that some of the participants may not actually believe that the organization is aligned with its own mission, but they remain due to financial constraints and the state of the economy.

Saving and Improving Lives

The second most popular theme pertained to the actual results of the mission, which was saving lives and/or improving lives. One participant made this statement:

I have always wanted to work with an organization that helped people in some way. The timing for this opportunity for me was perfect, and I was excited to be accepted as part of a team that focused on helping people and saving lives.

Many other participants mentioned the need to want to work for this organization to make a difference in other lives. One other participant stated:

The mission of the organization is to help improve the lives of people with cancer as well as to find a cure through research. To me the mission is to first find out why some have cancer and find a way to cure them and also preserve their life while fighting the disease.

When employees understand the purpose of the mission and can connect to it in a way they feel they can make a difference, they are more attached to the mission and want to see the organization accomplish their goals (Brown & Yoshioka, 2003). However, not all of the participants believed that they were making a direct impact, which appears to be related to their desire to remain at the organization. For example, one of the participants



stated "I do not feel as though my role makes a great impact in the mission of the organization". This participant also said that she was not content and not attached to the organization. Brown, Yoshioka and Munoz (2004) contend that attachment and fulfillment of the mission occurs when individuals feel satisfied with their work and the work they contribute toward organizational goals. Job description alignment and role adjustment to the mission could possibly improve employees' feelings toward the work they do in relationship to the organization's mission.

Advocacy

The actual results of the mission were achieved through the third most popular theme, which was advocacy. Advocacy is a great part of the organization's mission because through advocacy, policy changes can be made which directly impact the clients that the participants serve within their organization. Through the participants' responses, it seemed as though they clearly understood this goal. In one participant's response it was stated:

The mission of this organization is to make cancer a top national priority with our lawmakers at the national, state and regional levels. This organization works to pass legislation that supports cancer patients. One of the ways we do this is by building a grassroots arm of passionate volunteers who believe in the power of advocacy to fight cancer.

Advocacy was mentioned in another participant's response when stated:

This organization uses advocacy to promote policies at the state, local, and federal level that will lead to the elimination of cancer as a public health threat.

Consistent with the first two themes, the degree to which participants felt that they were actually having a direct impact (implementing the mission) and/or the degree to which they felt that they were attached to the mission versus the organization itself was



related to the degree to which they viewed themselves as advocates for their clients. For example, one of the participants explained "I am passionate about this organization because we fight so hard to advocate for such a great cause". Another participant explained how her attachment to the organization has weakened since her role has changed given that she feels as if her role is not as well aligned with the mission, and she does not appear to be satisfied with her new direct manager. Her response was as follows:

My emotional attachment to the organization was greater when my work role was more directly aligned with the mission and my manager was more emotionally attached to the people on the team. I believe my emotional attachment has changed as my direct manager changed. The current management style is drastically different from what I initially encountered when entering the organization.

Summary

The results of this study indicate that employees tended to describe their commitment and attachment to the mission in terms of a passion for their work and a strong belief in the mission of the organization. However, there was a small portion of participants who have remained at the organization because of financial reasons and the current state of the job market, and not because they are committed to the organization or its mission.

The majority of the participants in this study appeared to be very strongly attached to and passionate about the organization's mission, even to a greater extent than they were to the organization itself. Because of their passion as well as the relationships and experiences that they have had while working at the organization, and the characteristics of the job itself, the majority of the participants continue to work for the



organization, with many of them wishing to stay long term and possibly retire from their current organization. However, financial needs and organizational flexibility were also reasons for staying at the organization. In fact, in some cases, financial reasons were the driving force. Even in instances where the participant claimed that their commitment to the mission of the organization was the driving factor, there were still some participants who said that if they lost their job, they may not be able to get another job with the same financial benefits given the economy. Therefore the financial impact of losing the job resonated with some of the participants who claimed to be very committed to the mission of the organization only for that reason.

In the study, the majority of the participants said they felt a sense of loyalty to the organization, but they did not feel morally obligated to stay. Therefore the employees in this study tend to remain in their current position based on their attachment to the mission more so than due to any other reason. More so, their attachment to the mission is also due to personal experiences they or a family member have had with cancer, or simply because of the significance of the cause. Therefore, if employees begin to feel as if their organization is not fulfilling its mission and/or they believe that they can fulfill the mission under more ideal circumstances somewhere else, they may be very likely to leave the organization since their loyalty was more with the mission than the organization itself.

This chapter provided the data analysis results from the transcribed interviews and addressed the research question associated with the study. Chapter 5 offers a discussion of these findings and focuses on its implications. In addition, the limitations of the current study are discussed and recommendations for future research are provided.



CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION, IMPLICATIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS Introduction

Chapter five presents a summary and discussion of the data analysis from the study along with recommendations for future research. Several tables were used in chapter four to illustrate summary information of demographics, coded responses, and themes pertaining to the collected data. Recommendations for future research are made to enhance the existing body of knowledge relating to organizational commitment and mission attachment in the nonprofit sector.

Summary and Discussion of Findings

Moustakas (1994) contends that a phenomenological study attempts to understand people day-to-day life experiences and their understanding of the world in which they live. The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to examine how nonprofit employees described their commitment and attachment to the mission in relation to their intent to remain with the organization.

One of the goals in this study was to develop semi-structured interview questions that could capture participants' responses to uncover true emotions and personal experiences. After transcribing the textural responses from the participants in response to various interview questions, an alignment with the literature was noted in the area of employees being committed to the organization on three different levels. Additionally, it was also noted that many carried a psychological contract unknown to the organization that could lead to greater attachment to the mission or greater employee commitment.

Meyer, Allen, and Smith (2000) contend that the three different levels of commitment are in fact a psychological state. They either determine or define employees' bond with the



organization or have the potential to affect whether the employee will continue to remain with the organization.

From the semi-structured question, From your experience, how would you describe your level of contentment in working for this nonprofit organization because you personally believe in its mission and values?, approximately 90% of the employees indicated they were very content or content, and the mission was the driving contributing factor. In a study done by Brown and Yoshioka (2003) on mission attachment and awareness, a parallel was made in employees' belief in the mission and their intent to stay. By asking the semi-structured question, it was determined that the majority of the employees from this organization described an overarching belief in the organization's mission and felt satisfied working toward obtaining mission goals. One employee stated:

If measuring contentment on a scale from 1-5 with 5 being extremely content, then my answer is 5. Almost everyone globally is or has been affected by this disease and the mission of the organization is something I hope to see and experience during my lifetime.

From the semi-structured question, From your personal experience, how do you feel that your work contributes to carrying out the mission of this nonprofit organization? many employees felt their ability to advocate contributed to carrying out the mission.

Their direct connections to policy makers and lobbyists allowed them to work and have a voice in adopting and changing policies that contributes in saving and improving lives. However, not all of the employees have direct connections with legislators to neither impact laws nor consider themselves activists, but they can understand how the work they do relate to advocating and supporting mission goals. For example, an employee stated:

Since I am a member of the media team, I am responsible for helping to deliver our message to external audiences. My team is the direct link between the work



that is being done in our office to the audience we want to hear our messages. I personally work on social media and advertising efforts. By placing ads and being vocal on social networks, I am helping to create buzz around the issue of cancer advocacy and I am connecting with lawmakers, reporters and volunteers alike.

The main theme that emerged from this question was advocacy (campaigning, promoting mission) which is part of the mission for this organization. Mason (1996) contends that employees should identify a link between their work and the fulfillment of the mission. A lack in the alignment between the two can lead to discontentment or decrease in employees' levels of commitment. According to Brown and Yoshioka (2003) "awareness of the mission, agreement with its principles, and confidence in one's ability to help carry it out are fundamental aspects of one's attachment to the organization's mission" (p. 8).

Organizational commitment is another area that continues to be studied and researched in relation to employees' performance, turnover, satisfaction, and other employee related issues. Allen and Meyer (1990) created a Three Component Model which conceptualized employee commitment on three different levels. Affective commitment refers to the need for employees to be engaged with the organization through emotional connections; continuance refers to the cost impact of leaving the organization; and normative refers to obligations the employees feel that ties them to the organization (Allen & Meyer, 1990). The results from the study indicated that employees described their commitment on all three levels. Meyer, Allen, and Smith (2000) suggest that "one can achieve a better understanding of an employee's relationship with an organization when all three forms of commitment are considered together" (p. 539).



employees were committed more to the mission than the organization itself. Since they were more committed to the mission than to the organization, they could leave the organization and continue to carry out the mission in other capacities. Some reasons for employees not leaving the organization, despite a greater commitment to the mission, included financial reasons, the state of the economy, and/or the flexibility of having a good work-life balance.

The interview questions asked which addressed affective commitment were:

From your experience, how would you describe your level of emotional attachment to this nonprofit organization?, and From your personal experience and perception of this nonprofit organization, to what extent would you be happy spending the rest of your career here? Over half of the employees indicated or suggested they were emotionally attached to the organization and intend to remain with the organization. Although some employees described their intention to remain contingent upon needed cultural changes or job position changes in the organization, their contentment with the organization and its mission remained positive.

Affective commitment has been known to have the strongest and most positive relation toward employees' intent to stay (Meyer, Allen & Smith, 2000). Affective committed employees are committed due to their identification and emotional attachment to the organization. An employee added:

I am very new to the organization but in my short time, it has been an emotional experience when my family member was diagnosed with cancer. It reminds me everyday that I am with an organization that cares about the patients diagnosed, the families of those diagnosed, and the employees and volunteers who assist with helping you through this journey. The organization takes everyone's situation serious to find solutions.



Additionally, another employee responded by stating:

My emotional level is very strong because not only do I witness the level of commitment of co-workers but I also hear stories of survival and triumph.

Several of the themes which emerged from this question aligned with employees being emotionally attached due to the nature of the work/mission, their connection with other people, and their personal experiences with cancer. In alignment with emotional attachment, participants indicated a likelihood they would like to remain with the organization to work toward accomplishing the mission which has been set forth by the organization.

The interview questions asked which addressed continuance commitment were: Describe any costs impact for you if you decided to leave this nonprofit organization right now and What impact does the scarcity of available job options have on your decision whether or not to leave this organization? Approximately 35% of the employees expressed they would suffer a financial hit or loss. Some of the loss was expressed in terms of emotional loss. One employee described the emotional loss by a stating:

I would miss the daily updates; the energy of the organization, and the camaraderie of my fellow co-worker.

Another employee described the cost impact when stated:

I have to consider that I am putting money into a retirement fund that is being matched by the organization. However, I will not receive those matched funds unless I am here for three years. I also have to consider the current job market and the expensive city that I live in.

Becker's (1960) work on continuance commitment linked the lost of employees investment concerns as a major factor in employees' decision to remain with the



organization. Meyer and Allen (1997) supported the theory by further postulating that investments through the organization can bind employees to the organization through continuance commitment. Employees expressed their commitment and intent to stay with the organization based upon personal cost impact that would occur if they would leave. The cost included lost in pension, compensation, and other factors associated with employee related investments in the organization. Meyer, Allen and Smith (2000) note that "continuance commitment develops as employees recognize they have accumulated investments that would be lost if they were to leave the organization, or as they recognize the availability of comparable alternatives is limited" (p. 539).

Financial benefits appear to play some role in retaining employees within nonprofits. One potential negative implication of employees remaining based on continuance commitment is that they may be less committed to the mission and therefore not as passionate about working toward achieving mission related goals. In addition, they are more likely to leave when a more financially attractive job opportunity becomes available. The results of the study appeared to be consistent with prior research in that those who stayed for reasons other than the mission stayed for continuance commitment, with the most common being financial reasons followed by their investment in the organization.

Interesting, several employees did not feel the scarcity of jobs had any impact on them because they intend on staying with the organization. However, if they should lose their job for some reason (e.g., budget cuts, performance issues), their concerns were tied to the overall financial cost-related factors which would come in the loss of a job which may not be equally replaced with equal financial compensation and rewards received



from their current organization. For that reason, the financial gains from their employment within the organization were still a factor, even if they intend on remaining with the organization due to the mission. The implication of this finding is that even when employees claim to be committed to the mission, their personal financial situations can affect their retention at the organization.

The two interview questions asked to recognize normative commitment were:

Describe your desire and/or thoughts on continuing to work for this nonprofit

organization and supporting it mission for the next five years, and Describe your

thoughts on loyalty to this organization, and do you feel a sense of moral obligation to

remain? The coded responses indicated that 65% of the employees wanted to stay for at

least another five years, and 55% indicated they were loyal to the organization.

However, 50% of the coded responses indicated the employees felt they were not morally

obligated to stay. An employee responded:

My goal is to become another valuable asset to the organization and support the mission for the next five years until my retirement". Another employee responded, "I am very loyal to the organization and the work that it does. However, I do not feel morally obligated to stay. Whether or not I am an employee at the organization, I will support the organization my entire life as a volunteer and advocate".

Normative commitment is employees' personal obligation to remain with the organization due to their values or morals. Some employees feel this obligation due to financial or non-financial rewards given to them from the organization, or through and obligations to remain due to family generational connections to the organization. However, many of the employees in the study expressed their loyalty to the organization, but did not feel they had a moral obligation to remain.



Loyalty was described in their desire to work toward mission goals not the obligation to work for the organization. The implication of this finding showed that the employees were more committed to the mission than to the organization itself.

Therefore, if an employee believes that he or she is not directly working towards the mission of the organization for any reason, or the employee feels as if he or she can carry out the mission elsewhere under more ideal circumstances (e.g., more financial benefits, more pleasant work atmosphere, more flexible job), than the employee does not feel obligated to remain with organization. The emerging themes of being loyal to the organization and/or its mission along with plans to remain would suggest that employees described their attachment to the mission based upon other factors which would not include obligation. In other words, they can take the mission with them and advocate somewhere else.

Limitations

The limitations were directly related to the type of research conducted. The researcher used a qualitative measurement tool instead of a quantitative survey tool, previously done in other studies involving organizational commitment, to describe employee commitment. Extending the research to a qualitative, phenomenological study allowed the data to be rich with employees' personal experiences instead of numeric values from a Likert Scale.

A second limitation to the study was the restrictions on the sample. The study was limited to one nonprofit organization with the sample only including voluntary participants whose job titles fell below director's level. Having a broader sampling would allow a researcher the opportunity to further explore commitment and mission



attachment as it relates to all employees. Additionally, the study was limited to only fulltime paid staff and not volunteers who also work on behalf on the organization.

Another limitation to the study involved the use of the Three Component

Organizational Commitment Scale. Although all three levels, affective, continuance, and
normative were used, only a few of the statements from each level on the commitment
scale were adapted into interview questions to survey the target population. Using more
or all of the statements from each area could have lead to more comprehensive data.

Conclusion

The literature is saturated with studies attempting to understand employee commitment to an organization and how it can affect employee behavior, work performance, and retention. Understanding mission attachment and how it relates to employees intent to remain with an organization has not been broadly explored. More research can be done to explore whether mission attachment can be used as an aggressive management tool to recruit and retain qualified employees to work toward mission goals.

The intent of this study was to describe nonprofit employees' commitment and attachment to the mission in relation to their intent to stay employed with an organization. The qualitative approach allowed employees to give responses which were based on their own personal perceptions, beliefs, and experiences. Since no known studies took the qualitative approach at describing organizational commitment, this study could be worthy for other researchers to explore on a broader scale.

The results of the study revealed that the majority of employees were aware of the mission and were mission driven with a connection and desire to be part of an organization whose purpose is to advocate for saving and improving peoples' lives.



Based on the findings, three overarching themes emerged during the study that included (1) commitment to the mission, (2) the outcomes of the work performed, which included saving lives and improving quality of life, and (3) the specific way in which the employees in the study felt advocacy was a way to save and improve lives. It is important to note that without the researcher mentioning the word "advocacy" in any of the interview questions, the employees understood this element as being a huge part of the work they do to accomplish mission goals. Additionally, their strong commitment to advocacy was often due to their personal experiences with cancer and/or their belief that they have a personal responsibility to help others.

The employees in this organization described their commitment and attachment on a more emotional level, and they plan on remaining with the organization for at least the next five years. The personal connections, whether it is with family members, friends, or co-workers who have experienced cancer, have allowed the employees to be emotionally attached to the organization's mission and values. However, it should be noted that all employees do not carry the same sentiments as the majority.

Continued research in mission attachment and organizational commitment can allow organizations to understand what is important to their employees and take corrective measures to prevent employees from being misaligned to the mission, discontented with the organization, and not understanding how their work relates to achieving mission goals. When employees are attached to the mission and committed on some level to the organization, they usually have an emotional passion and drive which makes them want to remain with the organization to accomplish those goals.



Future Research and Recommendations

As organizations continue to view employees as their most expensive asset, future research should continue to examine organizational commitment and mission attachment using more qualitative measurement tools. The qualitative data allows the researcher a deeper and more intimate insight on how employees are committed to the organization and how it can affect their intent to stay. Additionally, more research and studies should be done on reviving mission attachment as a management tool to determine its affects on employee retention.

Allen and Meyer's (1990) Three Component Organizational Commitment Scale continues to be a notable instrument to analyze and measure employee commitment due to the different levels that can expose strong indicators to the organization about their employees' job satisfaction, work performance, and expressed intent to remain. The instrument can indicate to the organization whether employees are committed due to emotional attachments, financial and cost impacts, or an obligation to remain.

The work done by Brown and Yoshioka (2000) on mission attachment should continue to be utilized to broaden and revitalize mission attachment as a retention tool. The instrument allows an organization to determine employees' awareness of the mission and their understanding of their work as it contributes to achieving the mission. This information can be important to managers and leaders in designing job responsibilities which directly align with the mission so employees can feel more attached and want to remain in order to meet mission goals.

The researcher would recommend replication of this study and its methodology in another nonprofit organization where advocacy may not be an important component of



the mission or in a for-profit company who wants to know if their employees are aware of their mission values. For-profit companies are not immune to revenue lost realized through constant turnover of employees who are misaligned with the mission and whose commitments are unidentifiable to the company. The necessity to attract and retain qualified employees to work toward achieving mission related goals is vital to the success of any organization whether it is nonprofit or not.

Moreover, a qualitative study, such as this one, should be done on volunteers who work for nonprofit organizations. Many nonprofit organizations depend on volunteers to work unconventional hours and days which may not be feasible for a paid staff to work. Knowing how volunteers are committed and whether they are attached to the organization's mission can assist leaders and practitioners in understanding psychological factors which can be linked to retention among this group.



REFERENCES

- Addae, H.M., Parboteeach, K.P., & Davis, E.E. (2006). Organizational commitment and intentions to quit. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 14(3), 225-238.
- Akingbola, K. (2006). Strategy and HRM in nonprofit organizations: Evidence from Canada. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 17(10), 1707-1725.
- Alexander, J. (1999). The impact of devolution on nonprofits: A multiphase study of social service organizations. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 10(1), 57-70.
- Allen, D.G., Shore, L.M., & Griffeth, R.W. (2003). The role of perceived organizational support and supportive human resource practices in the turnover process. *Journal of Management*, 29, 99-118.
- Allen, N.J., & Meyer, J.P. (1990). The measurement and antecedents of affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 63, 1-18.
- Allen, N.J., & Meyer, J.P. (1996). Affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization: An examination of construct validity. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 49, 252-276.
- Angelica, E. (2001). The wilder nonprofit field guide to crafting effective mission and vision statements. Minneapolis: Amhers. Wilder Foundation.
- Angle, H.L., & Perry, J.L. (1981). An empirical assessment of organizational commitment and organizational effectiveness. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 25, 1-14.
- Anderson, P., & Pulich, M. (2000). Retaining good employees in tough times. *The Health Care Manager*, 9, 50-58.
- Armstrong, M. (1992). A charitable approach to personnel. *Personnel Management*, 24(12), 28-32.
- Ayers-Williams, R. (1998). The changing face of nonprofits. *Black Enterprise*, 28(10), 110-114.
- Ban, C., Drahnak-Faller, A., & Towers, M. (2003). Human resource challenges in human service and community development organizations. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 23(2), 133-153.



- Barbeito, C.L., & Bowman, J.P. (1998). *Nonprofit compensation and benefits practices*. New York: John Wiley.
- Bart, C.K. (1999). Making mission statements count. CA Magazine, 132(2), 37-47.
- Bart, C.K. (1997). Sex, lies, and mission statements. *Business Horizons*, 9-18.
- Bart, C.K., & Tabone, J.C. (1998). Mission statement rationales and organizational alignment in the not-for-profit health care sector. *Health Care management Review*, 23(4), 54-69.
- Becker, H.S. (1960). Notes on the concept of commitment. *American Journal of Sociology*, 66, 32-42.
- Bellah, R., Madesen, R., Sullivan, W., Swidler, A., & Tipton, S. (1985). *Habits of the heart*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Bentein, K., Vandenberg, R.J., Vandenberghe, C., & Stinglhamber, F. (2005). The role of change in the relationship between commitment and turnover: A latent growth modeling approach. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90, 468-482.
- Berry, J.M. (2005). Nonprofits and civic engagement. *Public Administration Review*, 65(5), 568-578.
- Bettinger, C. (1990). Behind the mission statement. ABA Banking Journal, 24,154-160.
- Bhattacharya, C.B., Sen, S., & Korschum, D. (2008). Using corporate responsibility to win the war on talent. *MITSloan Management Review*, 49(2), 37-45.
- Blau, G.J., & Boal, K.B. (1987). Conceptualizing how job involvement and organizational commitment affect turnover and absenteeism. *Academy of Management Review*, 12, 288-300.
- Borzaga, C., & Tortia, E. (2006). Worker motivations, job satisfaction, and loyalty in public and nonprofit social services. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 35(2), 225-248.
- Brandel, G.A. (2001). The truth about working in a not-for-profit. *The CPA Journal*, 71(10), 13.
- Brown, W.A., & Yoshioka, C.F. (2003). Mission attachment and satisfaction as factors in employee retention. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 14(2), 5-18.



- Brown, W.A., & Yoshioka, C.F. (2004). Organizational mission as a core dimension in employee retention. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 22(2), 28-43.
- Bryman, A. (1989) Research methods and organisation studies. London: Unwin Hyman.
- Buchanan, B. (1974). Building organizational commitment: The socialization of managers to work organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 19, 533-546.
- Buchanan, B. (1975). To walk an extra: The whats, whens, and whys of organizational commitment. *Organizational Dynamics*, *3*, 67-80.
- Burke, C.B. (2000). Establishing a context: The elusive history of America's nonprofit domain If someone counted (Working Paper). New Haven, CT: Program on Nonprofit Organizations.
- Burke, C.B. (2001). Nonprofit history's new numbers (and the need for more). *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 30(2), 174-203.
- Campbell, A. (1992). The power of mission: Aligning strategy and culture. *Planning Review*, 20(5), 10-63,
- Campbell, T. (1996). Technology, multimedia, and qualitative research in education. *Journal of Research on Computing in Education*, 30(9), 122-133.
- Capelli, P. (2000). A market driven approach to retaining talent. *Harvard Business Review*, 78(1), 103-111.
- Chen, Z.X., & Francesco, A.M. (2003). The relationship between the three components of commitment and employee performance in China. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 62(3), 490-510.
- Cheverton, J. (2007). Holding our own: Value and performance in nonprofit organizations. *Australian Journal of Social Issues*, 42(3), 427-436.
- Christoforo, J.A., & Williams, W.J. (2002). Attracting and retaining executives and physicians in not-for-profit settings: EGTRRA 2001 benefits. *Journal of Deferred Compensation*, 7(3), 76-81.
- Chubb, J.E. & Moe, T. (1990). Politics, markets, and america's schools. Washington, D.C: Brookings.
- Cnaan, R.A., & Goldberg-Glen, R.S. (1991). Measuring motivation to volunteer in human services. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 27, 269-284.



- Cohen, A. (1991). Career stage as a moderator of the relationships between organizational commitment and its outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 64, 253-268.
- Conger, J. (1991). Inspiring others: The language of leadership. *Academy of Management Executives*, 5, 31-45.
- Contino, D.S. (2002). How to slash costly turnover. *Nursing Management*, 33(2), 10-13.
- Cooper, D.R., & Schindler, P.S. (2006). *Business research methods* (9th ed). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd Ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J.W. (2005). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluation quantitative and qualitative research* (2nd ed). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J.W. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Delobbe, N., & Vandenberghe, (2000). A four-dimensional model of organizational commitment among Belgian employees. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 16(2), 125-138.
- DeSmidt, S., & Prinzie, A.A. (2008). The impact of mission statements: An empirical analysis from a sensemaking perspective. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 1-6.
- Dordevic, B. (2004). Employee commitment in times of radical organizational changes. *Facta Universitatis*, *2*(2), 111-117.
- Douglas, J. (1983). *Why charity: The case for the third sector*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Douglas, J. (1981). *Why charity: Towards a rationale for the third sector*. Working Paper Series (#7). New Haven, CT: Yale University Program on Nonprofit Organizations.
- Drucker, P.F. (1989). What business can learn from nonprofits. *Harvard Business Review*, 88-93.
- Drucker, P.F. (2001a). The essential Drucker. New York: HarperCollins Publishers Inc.



- Drucker, P.F. (2001b). What is our business? *Executive Excellence*, 3-4.
- Dunham, R.B., Grube, J.A., & Castaneda, M.B. (1994). Organizational commitment: The utility of an integrative definition. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 79(3), 370-380.
- Eby, L., Freeman, D., Rush, M., & Lance, C. (1999). Motivational bases of affective organizational commitment: A partial test of an integrative theoretical model. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72, 463.
- Eisenberger, R., Fasolo, P., & Davis-LaMastro, V. (1990). Perceived organizational support and employee diligence, commitment, and innovation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 25, 51-59.
- Elizur, D., & Koslowsky, M. (2001). Values and organizational commitment. *International Journal of Manpower*, 22(7/8), 593-599.
- Emanuele, R., & Higgins, S.H. (2000). Corporate culture in the nonprofit sector: A comparison of fringe benefits with for-profit sectors. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 24, 87-93.
- Fairhurst, G.T., Jordan, J.M., & Neuwirth, K. (1997). Why are we here? Managing the meaning of an organization mission statement. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 25, 243-263.
- Fiorito, J., Bozeman, D.P., Young, A., & Meurs, J.A. (2007). Organizational commitment, human resource practices, and organizational characteristics. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 19(2), 186-207.
- Forehand, A. (2000). Mission and organizational performance in the healthcare industry. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 45(4), 267-275.
- George, W.W. (1999). Leadership: Building a mission-driven, values-centered organization. *Vital Speeches of the Day, 65(14)*, 439-443.
- Gerstein, L.H., Wilkeson, D.A., & Anderson, H. (2004). Differences in motivations of paid versus nonpaid volunteers. *Psychological Reports*, *94*, 163-175.
- Glasrud, B. (2001). Your mission statement has a mission. *Nonprofit World*, 19(5), 35-36.
- Gomez-Mejia, L.R., Balkin, D.B., & Cardy, R.L. (1998). *Managing human resourses* (2nd ed). Upper River Saddle, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Gose, B. (2005). America's charity explosion. Chronicle of Philanthropy, 6-19.



- Gould, S. (1979). An equity-exchange model of organization involvement. *Academy of Management Review*, *4*, 53-62.
- Goulet, L.R., & Frank, M.L. (2002). Organizational commitment across three sectors: Public, non-profit, and for-profit. *Public Personnel Management*, *31*(2), 201-210.
- Granger, M. (2006). Outcomes of values and participation in 'value-expressive' nonprofit agencies. *Journal of Behavioral and Applied Management*, 7(2), 165-181.
- Greenberg, J., & Baron, A.B. (2003). *Behavior in organizations* (8th ed). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Grube, J.A. (1990). Organizational commitment: A social information processing perspective. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Wisconsin, Madison.
- Hammack, D.C. (2002). Nonprofit organizations in American history: Research opportunities and sources. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 45(11), 1638-1674.
- Harkins, P. (1988). Why employees stay or go. Workforce, 77(10), 74-75.
- Harrison, R. (1987). Harnessing personal energy: How companies can inspire employees. *Organizational Dynamics*, 16(2), 4-20.
- Hasenfeld, Y. (1992). *Human services as complex organizations*. Newbury Park: Sage Publications.
- Hayden, J., & Madsen, S. (2008). The influence of value perspectives on prior plans, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions in nonprofit agencies. *Journal of Business Inquiry*, 7(1), 33-40.
- Helms, M., & Frazee, J. (1994). Winning the war against attrition. *Nonprofit World*, 12(5), 46-47.
- Hesselbein, F., & Cohen, P.M. (1999). Leader to leaser: *Enduring Insights from the Drucker Foundations' Award-Winning Journal*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Hodgkin, C. (1991). Policy and paper clips: Rejecting the lure of the corporate model. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 3(4), 415-428.
- Holstein, J.A., & Gubrium, J.F. (1994). Phenomenology, ethnomethodology, and interpretive practice. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.
- Huberman, A.M., & Miles, M.B. (2002). *The qualitative researcher's companion*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.



- Huselid, M.A., & Day, N.E. (1991). Organizational commitment, job involvement, and turnover: A substantive and methodological analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76(3), 380-391.
- Ishoy, K. & Swan, P. (1992). Creating a mission statement for your work group: A guide for managers and supervisors. *Performance and Instruction*, 31(10), 11-15.
- Jeavons, T. (1992). When the management is the message: Relating values to management practices in nonprofit organization. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*, 2, 403-417.
- Jeavons, T. (1994). When the bottom line is faithfulness. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.
- Karl, K.A., & Sutton, C.L. (1998). Job values in today's workforce: A comparison of public and private sector employees. *Public Personnel Management*, 27(4), 515-527.
- Kim, S.E., & Lee, J.W. (2007). Is mission attachment an effective management tool for employee retention? An empirical analysis of a nonprofit human services agency. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 27(3), 227-248.
- Kontoghiorghes, C.K, & Bryant, N. (2004). Exploring employee commitment in a service organization in the health care insurance industry. *Organizational Development Journal*, 22(3), 59-73
- Kristof, A.L. (1996). Person-organization fit: An integrative review of its conceptualizations, measurement, and implications. *Personnel Psychology*, 49, 1-49.
- Labschagne, A. (2003). Qualitative research Airy fairy or fundamental. *The Qualitative Report*, 8(1).
- Lambert, E. G., Hogan, N.L., & Barton, S.M. (2001. The impact of job satisfaction on turnover intent: a test of a structural measurement model using a national sample of workers. *Social Science Journal*, 38(2), 233-251.
- Leedy, P.D., & Ormond, J.E. (2005). *Practical research: Planning and design* (8th ed). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Leete, L. (2000). Wage equity and employee motivation in nonprofit and for-profit organization. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 43(4), 248.



- Levin, I.M. (2000). Vision revisited: Telling the story of the future. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *36(1)*, 91-107.
- Light, P.C. (2002a). The content of their character: The state of nonprofit workforce. *Nonprofit Quarterly*, 9(3), 6-16.
- Lindholm, M.L., Whitford, R.A., & Freeman, S.E. (2002). Selecting the best and brightest: Leveraging human capital. *Human Resource Management*, 41(3), 325-340.
- Liou, K., & Nyhon, R.C. (1994). Dimensions of organizational commitment in the public sector: An empirical assessment. *Public Administration Quarterly*, 18(1), 99-118.
- Macy, G. (2006). Outcomes of values and participation in 'values-expressive' nonprofit agencies. *Journal of Behavioral and Applied Management*, 7(2), 165-181.
- Mason, D.E. (1996). Leading and managing the expressive dimension: Harnessing the hidden power source of the nonprofit sector. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Mathieu, J.E., & Zajac, D. (1990). A review and meta-analysis of the antecedents, correlates, and consequences of organizational commitment. *Psychological Bulletin*, 108, 171-194.
- McGee, G.W., & Ford, R.C. (1987). Two (or more?) dimensions of organizational commitment: Reexamination of the affective and continuance commitment scales. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 72(4), 638-642.
- McManus, K. (2000). Your mission (must you accept it?). IIE Solutions, 32(1), 20.
- Meehan III, W.F. (2008). Making missions that won't creep. *Stanford Social Innovation Review*, 6(1), 64.
- Mayer, M.C. (1978). Demotivation. *Personnel Journal*, 57, 260-266.
- Meyer, J.P., & Allen, N.J. (1984). Testing the "side-bet theory" of organizational commitment: Some methodological considerations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69, 372-378.
- Meyer, J.P., & Allen, N.J. (1987). A longitudinal analysis of the early development and consequences of organizational commitment. Canadian *Journal of Behavioural Science*, 19, 199-215.
- Meyer, J.P., & Allen, N.J. (1988). Links between work experience and organizational commitment during the first year of employment: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 61, 195-209.



- Meyer, J.P., & Allen, N.J. (1991). A Three-component conceptualization or organizational commitment. *Human Resource Management Review*, 1, 61-89.
- Meyer, J.P., & Allen, N.J. (1997). Commitment in the workplace: *Theory, research and application*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Meyer, J.P., Allen, N.J., & Smith, C.A. (2000). Commitment to organizations and occupations: Extension and test of a three-component conceptualization. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78, 538-551.
- Meyer, J.P., Bobocel, D.R., Allen, N.J. (1991). Development of organizational commitment during the first year of employment: A longitudinal study of pre-and post-entry influences. *Journal of Management*, 17, 717-733.
- Meyer, J.P., & Herscovitch, L. (2001). Commitment in the workplace: Toward a general model. Human Resource Management Review, 11(3), 299-326.
- Meyer, J.P., Paunonen, S.V., Gellatly, I.R., Goffin, R.D., & Jackson, D.N. (1989). Organizational commitment and job performance: It's the nature of the commitment that counts. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 74, 152-156.
- Mirvis, P.H., & Hackett, E.J. (1986). Work and work force characteristics in the nonprofit sector. *Monthly Labor Review*, 106, 3-12.
- Mohamed, F., Taylor, G.S., & Hassan, A. (2006). Affective commitment and intent to quit: The impact of work and non-work related issues. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 18(4), 512-529.
- Moore, C. (2004). Nonprofit organizations are hiring workers at a faster pace than government. *Chronicle of Philanthropy*, 37-48.
- Mor Barak, M.E., Nissly, J.A., & Levin, A. (2001). Antecedents to retention and turnover among child welfare, social work, and other human service employees; what can we learn from past research? A review and metaanalysis. *Social Service Review*, 75(4), 625-663.
- Morrison, E.W. & Robinson, S.L. (1997). When employees feel betrayed: A model of how psychological contract violation develops. *Academy of Management Review*, 22(1).
- Morrow, P.C. (1993). The theory and measurement of work commitment. Greenwich, CT: JAI.



- Mowday, R.T. (1998). Reflections on the study and revelance of organizational commitment. *Human Resource Management Review*, 8, 387.
- Mowday, R.T., Porter, L.W., & Dubin, R. (1974). Unit performance, situational factors, and employee attitudes in spatially separated work units. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 12, 231-248.
- Mowday, R.T., Porter, L.W., & Steers, R.M. (1982). Organizational linkages: *The psychology of commitment, absenteeism, and turnover*, San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Mowday, R.T., Steers, R.M., & Porter, L.W. (1979). The measurement of organizational commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 14, 224-247.
- Nardi, P. (2003). *Doing survey research: A guide to quantitative methods*. New York: Pearson Education.
- Niehoff, S.J. (1995). *Job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and individual and organizational mission values congruence: Investing the relationship.* Doctoral dissertation, Gonzaga University, 1995.
- Noor, A.K., & Noor, N.M.N. (2006). Evaluating the psychometric properties of Allen and Meyer's organizational commitment scale: A cross cultural application among Malaysian academic librarians. *Malaysian Journal of Library & Information Science*, 11(1), 89-101.
- O'Reilly, C., & Chatman, J. (1986). Organizational commitment and psychological attachment: The effects of compliance, identification, and internalization on prosocial behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 71, 492-499.
- Parks, J.M. & Schmedermann, D.A. (1994). When promises become contracts: Implied contracts and handbook provisions on job security. *Human Resource Management*, 33(3), 403-423.
- Passon, R.H. (1997). Hiring for mission: An overview. Conversations, 12, 5-13.
- Patton, M.Q. (2002). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA; Sage Publications, Inc.
- Penley, L.E., & Gould, S. (1988). Etzioni's model of organizational involvement: A perspective for understanding commitment to organizations. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *9*, 43-59.
- Perry, J.L., & Wise, L.R. (1990). The motivational bases of public service. *Public Administration Review*, 50(3), 367-372.



- Pfeffer, J. (1998). *The human equation: Building profits by putting people first*. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Porter, L., Steers, R., Mowday, R., & Boulian, P. (1974). Organizational commitment, job satisfaction, and turnover among psychiatric technicians. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *59*, 603-609.
- Preston, A.E. (1989). The nonprofit worker in a for-profit world. *Journal of Labor Economic*, 4, 438-463.
- Reichers, A.E. (1985). A review and reconceptualization of commitment. *Academy of Management Review*, 10, 465-476.
- Reilly, N.P., & Orsak, C.L. (1991). A career stage analysis of career and organizational commitment in nursing. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 39, 311-330.
- Rhoades, S., & Eisenberger, R. (2002). Perceived organizational support: A review of the literature. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(4), 698-714.
- Rhoades, L., Eisenberger, R., & Armeli, S. (2001). Affective commitment to the organization: The contribution of perceived organizational support. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(5), 825-836.
- Rich, A. (2000). *Employees as investors/owners: Maximizing human capital new worth.*San Francisco: University Press.
- Riketta, M. (2002). Attitudinal organizational commitment and job performance: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 23, 257-266.
- Robertson, P.J., Lo, C.W., & Tang, S. (2007). Money, mission, or match. *Administration & Society*, 39(1), 3-24.
- Robinson, S.L. (1996). Trust and breach of the psychological contract. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 41, 574-5999.
- Robson, C. (2002). Real world research. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.
- Rotolo, T. & Wilson, J. (2006). Employment sector and volunteering: The contribution of nonprofit and public sector workers to the volunteer labor force. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 47(1), 21-40.
- Rousseau, D.M. (1989). Psychological and implied contracts in organizations. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 2(2), 121-139.



- Rousseau, D.M. & Greller, M.M. (1994). Human resource practices: Administrative contract makers. *Human Resource Management*, 33(3), 385-401.
- Rousseau, D.M. & Parks, J.M. (1993). The contracts of individuals and organizations. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, 15, 1-43.
- Rycraft, J.R. (1994). The party isn't over: The agency role in the retention of public child welfare caseworkers. *Social Work*, 39(1), 75-80.
- Saari, L.M., Judge, T.A. (2004). Employee attitudes and job satisfaction. *Human Resource Management*, 43(4), 395-407.
- Salamon, L. (1999). *America's nonprofit sector: A primer* (2nd ed.). New York: Foundation Center.
- Salamon, L. (2002). *The state of nonprofit America*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.
- Salancik, G.R., & Pfeffer, J. (1997). An examination of need-satisfaction models of job attitudes. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 22, 427-456.
- Santora, J.C., Seaton, W., & Sarros, J.C. (1999). Changing times: Entrepreneurial leadership in a community-based nonprofit organization. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, (Summer-Fall), 101-110.
- Schneider, B., & Bowen, D.E. (1985). Employee and customer perceptions of service in banks: Replication and extension. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 70, 423-433.
- Sheldon, M.E. (1971). Investments and involvement as mechanisms producing commitment to the organization. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *16*, 142-150.
- Sisson, B. (2003). Managing better with a mission statement. SDM, 61-62.
- Smith, D.H. (1998). The impact of the nonprofit voluntary sector on society, The nonprofit organization handbook. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Solinger, O.N., Olffen, W.V., & Roe, R.A. (2008). Beyond the three-component model of organizational commitment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*(1), 70-83.
- Somaya, D., & Williamson, I.O. (2008). Rethinking the war for talent. *MITSloan Management Review*, 49(4), 29-35.
- Spector, P.E. (1985). Measurement of human service staff satisfaction: Development of the job satisfaction survey. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 13(6), 693-713.



- Spindler, G.S. (1994). Psychological contracts in the workplace: A lawyer's view. Human Resource Management, 33(3), 325-333.
- Stephens, R.D., Dawley, D.D., & Stephens, D.B. (2004). Commitment on the board: A model of volunteer director's level of organizational commitment and self-reported performance. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 16(4), 483-504.
- Stubbs, R.A. (1998). A recipe for non-profit success: Managing the linkages and key elements of successful organizations. *Fund Raising Management*, 28(11), 17-20.
- Tayyab, S. (2007). An empirical assessment of organizational commitment measures. *Pakistan Journal of Psychological Research*, 22(1-2), 1-21.
- Ulrich, D. (1997). Organizing around capabilities. Organizations of the future (1st ed., pp. 189-196). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Vardi, Y., Weiner, Y., & Popper, M. (1989). The value content of organizational mission as a factor in the commitment of members. *Psychological Reports*, 65, 27-34.
- Weiner, Y., & Vardi, Y. (1980). Relationships between job, organization, and career commitments and work outcomes: An integrative approach. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 26, 81-96.
- Weisbrod, B. (1983). Nonprofit and proprietary sector behavior: Wage differentials among lawyers. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 1(3), 246-263.
- Weisbrod, B. (1988). *The nonprofit economy*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Weisbrod, B. (1999). *The nonprofit mission and its financing: Growing links between nonprofits and the rest of the economy*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Weiss, J.A., & Pideritt, S.K. (1999). The value of mission statements in public agencies. Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory, 2, 193-223.
- Weitzman, M.S., Jalandoni, N.T., Lampkin, L.M., & Pollak, T.H. (2002). *The New Nonprofit Almanac and Desk Reference*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Witham, T. (2007). Manage by mission. Credit Union Management, 30(6), 46.
- Zeffane, R. (1994). Patterns of organizational commitment and perceived management style: A comparison of public and private sector employees. *Human Relations*, 47, 97-101.



APPENDIX A

INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

From The measurement and antecedent of affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization, by Allen, N.J., & Meyer, J.P., 1990, *Journal of Occupational Psychology*. Adapted with permission.

From The measurement and antecedent of affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization, by Allen, N.J., & Meyer, J.P., 1990, *Journal of Occupational Psychology*. Reprinted with permission.

- 1. Why did you pursue job opportunities with this nonprofit organization?
- 2. What is your understanding of the mission of this nonprofit organization?
- 3. From your personal experience, how do you feel that your work contributes to carrying out the mission of this nonprofit organization?
- 4. From your experience, how would you describe your level of contentment in working for this nonprofit organization because you personally believe in its mission and values?
- 5. From your experience, how would you describe your level of emotional attachment to this nonprofit organization?
- 6. From your personal experience and perception of this nonprofit organization, to what extent would you be happy spending the rest of your career here?
- 7. Describe any costs impact for you if you decided to leave this nonprofit organization right now.
- 8. What impact does the scarcity of available job options have on your decision whether or not to leave this organization?
- 9. Describe your desire and/or thoughts on continuing to work for this nonprofit organization and supporting its mission for the next five years.



10. Describe your thoughts on loyalty to this organization, and do you feel a sense of moral obligation to remain?

APPENDIX B

ORGANIZATIONAL COMMITMENT SCALES

From The measurement and antecedent of affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization, by Allen, N.J., & Meyer, J.P., 1990, *Journal of Occupational Psychology*.

Affective Commitment Scale items:

- 1. I would be very happy to spend the rest of my career with this organization.
- 2. I enjoy discussing my organization with people outside it.
- 3. I really feel as if this organization's problems are my own.
- 4. I think that I could easily become as attached to another organization as I am to this one.
- 5. I do not feel like 'part of the family' at my organization.
- 6. I do not feel 'emotionally attached' to this organization.
- 7. This organization has a great deal of personal meaning for me.
- 8. I do not feel a strong sense of belonging to my organization.

Continuance Commitment Scale items:

- 1. I am not afraid of what might happen if I quit my job without having another one line up.
- 2. It would be very hard for me to leave my organization right now even if I wanted to.
- 3. Too much in my life would be disrupted if I decided I wanted to leave my organization now.
- 4. It wouldn't be too costly for me to leave my organization now.
- 5. Right now, staying with my organization is a matter of necessity as much as desire
- 6. I feel that I have too few options to consider leaving this organization.
- 7. One of the few serious consequences of leaving this organization would be the scarcity of available alternatives.
- 8. One of the major reasons I continue to work for this organization is that leaving would require considerable personal sacrifice; another organization might not match the overall benefits I have here.

Normative Commitment Scale items:

- 1. I think that people these days move from company to company too often.
- 2. I do not believe that a person must always be loyal to his or her organization.
- 3. Jumping from organization to organization does not seem at all unethical to me.
- 4. One of the major reasons I continue to work for this organization is that I believe that loyalty is important and therefore feel a sense of moral obligation to remain.
- 5. If I got another offer for a better job elsewhere, I would not feel it was right to leave my organization.



APPENDIX C

MISSION ATTACHMENT STATEMENTS

From Mission attachment and satisfaction as factors in employee retention, by Brown, W.A., & Yoshioka, 2003, *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*.

- 1. I am well aware of the direction and mission of (organization's name).
- 2. The programs and staff at my branch support the mission of (organization's name).
- 3. I like to work for (organization's name) because I believe in its mission and values.
- 4. My work contributes to carrying out the mission of (organization's name)



APPENDIX DSELF-REFLECTIVE EPOCHÉ

Over 15 years ago, I entered into the human resource profession. I have been a technical recruiter, trainer, staffer, director, and generalist. During those years, I performed a number of interviews. When interviewing different candidates for various numbers of positions, I often wondered what attracted them to the company. Did they know the mission of the organization, or was this just another job ad they applied to seeking work?

None of the questions I asked the job applicants pertained to the mission. The interview questions were all related to the applicants' knowledge, skills, and abilities. I could not remember one hiring manager or leader ever asking whether the prospective candidates knew anything about the mission and values of the organization. As I thought back to my own interviews, I do not remember anyone even asking me whether I knew about the mission of the organization for where I was seeking work. Was it important to them? Did I even care?

When employees come into an organization, they are bombarded with paraphernalia which display the organization's mission and given employee handbooks which present the written dialogue of what they have already seen on the walls, on notepads, pens, and other objects. I have conducted many new employee orientations where I would point out the mission and values to the new group of employees knowing that some of them could possibly care less about what I am saying. Some of them were just happy to have a job which could meet their financial obligations at that time.



However, my job during the hour or two I spent with them, was to ensure they knew the organization's purpose and values which they held true.

During the process of this dissertation, I began to reflect on all of the companies I worked for and tried to recall whether I actually knew the mission of any of them. I could actually say I remembered the mission from only two organizations. The reason I remembered the mission for each one of these organizations was because I could personally relate to its purpose. According to Campbell (1992) most employees desire work that is purposeful and enjoyable and relates to values similar to their own. The work that was done in both organizations provided for a greater cause, and I wanted to be part of helping to achieve those goals.

In one organization, my emotional attachment was in connection to the way in which leaders showed they cared for their employees through training opportunities and positive employee relations which kept employees aligned with the shared vision. I worked for that organization for several years and continued to advance in career opportunities until a personal decision to pursue an advanced business degree no longer aligned with the career track for further advancement. However, I have to admit that during this transition, my commitment mirrored more of being committed on a continuance level because I could not readily leave due to financial obligations.

In the second organization, I joined due to a personal and emotional attachment to the organization's mission and values. It was these values that I held dear to my heart and felt that I wanted to remain with this organization to see these mission goals accomplished. I worked hard and involved myself in all aspects of the company where I felt I could make a difference. According to Allen and Meyer (1990) Three Component



Model of Organizational Commitment, I was initially committed on an affective level due to my emotional connection and engagement with the organization. However, due to other employee relation issues and conflicts, I did not remain with the organization, although I continue to believe in the organization's mission and values and involve myself in activities that relates directly to the organization's missions on a more voluntary basis.

In performing this study, I am full of excitement and curiosity to see what the findings will uncover. I have an open mind and ready to hear what is important to my participants and how they feel about the mission and their commitment to the organization. I put my personal reasons for leaving the organizations where I previously worked aside as I eagerly await to hear the personal stories of others as to whether they understand the mission and if they are attached and committed. Furthermore, I want to hear if they feel their attachment or commitment to the organization will retain them.

Additionally, through the process of this dissertation, I acquired so much information about employees and their psychological contracts. I learned how employees can be committed to an organization and whether they are aware and attached to the mission. In processing this information, I wondered if I had not fulfilled my job as a human resource professional over the years. Had I ignored literature which could have allowed me a better understanding of organizational commitment and mission attachment which may have been valuable in determining tenure among employees?

I appreciate and embrace the differences in values that each person brings with them to the workplace. My only hope is that the results of this study will add just a little more to the body of knowledge in these subject areas.

